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1. Introduction 

United Energy is required to respond to the Annual Regulatory Information Notice (RIN), issued on 3rd February 
2016 under Division 4 of Part 3 of the National Electricity Law (NEL).  

The Notice requires United Energy to provide, prepare and maintain the information in the manner and form 

specified in the Notice issued on 3rd February 2016. The AER requires the information for the performance or 
exercise of a function or power conferred on it under the NEL or the National Electricity Rules (NER). 

The Excel templates in which the information is provided, were issued as final by the AER on the 3rd February 

2016. 

The information contained in the templates relates to the 2016 calendar year only. 

1.1 Preparation process 

The following diagram provides a high-level summary of UE’s approach to preparing the 2016 Annual RIN. 
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provided by the AER is verified by statutory declaration. 

Stage 1

Allocation of 

responsibilities for 

data collection

Stage 2

Data 

collection 

and collation

Stage 3

Internal 

review

Stage 4

External 

audit

Stage 5

CEO, Audit Risk 

Committee and 

Board approval

Stage 6

Submission 

to the AER



 
 

 

 

 

 

   

2. Compliance with AER requirements 

2.1 Compliance with Schedule 1 of the Notice 

The table below outlines how United Energy has complied with the requirements of Schedule 1 of the Notice. 

Clause detail United Energy response 

1. Regulatory accounting statements and non-financial information 

1.1. Provide: 

a) the information required in the Financial Information Templates in the Microsoft Excel workbook attached at 

Appendix B; 

b) the information required in the Non-Financial Information Templates in the Microsoft Excel workbook attached 

at Appendix B; 

Appendix A – Annual RIN Excel Template 

(b) does not apply 

 

c) a Microsoft Excel workbook or other information that reconciles and explains Adjustments between the 
Audited Statutory Accounts and the Financial Information Templates. United Energy must separately list each 

Adjustment made to derive the Financial Information Templates. For each Adjustment made: 

i. specify the amount of Adjustment; 

ii. describe the nature and basis of each Adjustment; 

Appendix E – Reconciliation of the RIN to the Statutory Accounts  

d) a Basis of Preparation which must, for all information provided in Appendix B: 

i. demonstrate how the information provided is consistent with the requirements of this Notice; 

ii. explain the source from which United Energy obtained the information; 

iii. explain the methodology United Energy applied to provide the required information, including any 

assumptions United Energy made; 

iv. explain, in circumstances where United Energy cannot provide Actual Information: 

1) why it was not possible for United Energy to provide Actual Information; 

2) what steps United Energy is taking to ensure it can provide the information in the future; 

Appendix C – Basis of preparation  



 
 

 

 

 

 

  

Clause detail United Energy response 

3) if an estimate has been provided, the basis for the estimate, including the approach used, assumptions 
made and reasons why the estimate is United Energy best estimate, given the information sought in this 

Notice. 

e) the Regulatory Accounting Principles and Policies for the Relevant Regulatory Year.  Appendix F2 – Cost Allocation Methodology (CAM) and Appendix F3 

Capitalisation Policy 

f) the Capitalisation Policy for the Relevant Regulatory Year. Appendix F3 Capitalisation Policy 

g) a statement of the policy for determining the allocation of overheads in accordance with the approved Cost 

Allocation Method for the relevant Regulatory year. 
In accordance with the CAM 

1.2 Identify all material changes between the Regulatory Accounting Principles and Policies provided in the 

response to paragraphs 1.1(e) for the relevant regulatory year and the previous regulatory year. For each 
change identified: 

a) explain the nature of and the reasons for the change; 

b) quantify the effect of the change on the Regulatory Accounting Statements for the current Relevant Regulatory 
Year. 

Not applicable – no differences 

 

1.3 Identify all material changes between the statements of the policy for determining the allocation of overheads 
in accordance with the approved Cost Allocation Method, for the Relevant Regulatory Year and the previous 

regulatory year. For each change identified: 

a) explain the nature of and the reasons for the change; and 

b) quantify the effect of the change on information in the Financial Information Templates for the Relevant 
Regulatory Year 

Not applicable – no differences 

 

1.4 If United Energy has previously provided the AER with the policies sought in paragraphs 1.1(e), (f) or (g) it is 
not necessary for United Energy to provide each policy again unless it identified a material change in 
response to paragraphs 1.2, 1.3 or 5.1. 

 



 
 

 

 

 

 

  

Clause detail United Energy response 

1.5 Identify each difference (where the difference is equal to or greater than ±10 per cent) between the amount 
reported in the Financial Information Templates and the amount provided for in the 2016-20 Distribution 

Determination for the following: 

a) total actual operating expenditure and total forecast operating expenditure; and 
b) total actual capital expenditure and total forecast capital expenditure. 

 

Appendix G – Explanation of material differences 

 

1.6 Explain the reasons for each difference identified in the response to paragraph 1.5. Appendix G – Explanation of material differences 

1.7 Identify each material differences (where the difference is equal to or greater than 10 per cent) between the 
target performance measure specified in the service target performance incentive scheme and actual 

performance reported in the response paragraph 1.1(b). 

Appendix G – Explanation of material differences 

1.8 Explain the reasons for each difference identified in the response to paragraph 1.7 Appendix G – Explanation of material differences 

2. Compliance 

2.1 Explain the procedures and processes used by United Energy to ensure that the distribution services have 

been classified as determined in the 2016-20 Distribution Determination. 
UE has classified distribution services in accordance with the CAM and 

Capitalisation Policy approved by the AER in line with the 2016-20 

Distribution Determination. 

2.2 Explain the procedures and processes used by United Energy to ensure that the negotiated service criteria, as 

set out in the 2016-20 Distribution Determination, have been applied. 
Negotiated service criteria have been applied in accordance with the 

CAM and Capitalisation Policy approved by the AER in line with the 
2016-20 Distribution Determination. 

2.3 Describe the process United Energy has in place to identify negative change events under clause 6.6.1(f) of 

the NER and the materiality threshold applied to these events. 
Each business area holds responsibility for identifying negative change 

events under clause 6.6.1(f) of the NER. The respective General 
Manager formally attests to compliance with 6.6.1 (f) of the NER during 

the RIN reporting period. 



 
 

 

 

 

 

  

Clause detail United Energy response 

The materiality threshold applied is 1 per cent of 1 per cent of the 
smoothed forecast revenue specified in the final decision for the 

applicable regulatory year(s), pro rata for the applicable event period. 

 

2.4 Describe the process United Energy has in place to monitor compliance with the Essential Services Commission of 

Victoria, Electricity Industry Guideline No. 17: Electricity Ring-fencing Issue 1, October 2004 (or any Ringfencing 

Guideline the AER may develop under clause 6.17.2 of the NER). List all instances of non-compliance, including the 
date of non-compliance event, reason for non-compliance, impact on customers, impact on competitors, and any 

remedial action taken by United Energy. 

Not applicable – UE does not have a Ring-fenced entity 

3. Cost allocation to distribution business 

3.1 Identify each expenditure or revenue item in Worksheet 8.1 of the Financial Information Templates that is 
directly attributable to the Distribution Business 

 

3.2 Identify each Item in the Regulatory Accounting Statements that is: 

a) not directly attributable but is allocated on a causation basis to the Distribution Business; and 

b) not directly attributable and cannot be allocated on a causation basis to the Distribution Business. 

All costs have been directly allocated. Refer to Appendix F – Cost 

allocation to regulated distribution business and cost allocation to 
service segments.  

3.3 For each Item identified in the response to paragraphs 3.2(a): 

c) state the amount of the item that has been allocated; 

d) explain the method of allocation and reasons for choosing that method; and 

e) state the numeric amount of the allocator(s) used. 

All costs have been directly allocated. Refer to Appendix F – Cost 
allocation to regulated distribution business and cost allocation to 

service segments. 

3.4 For each Item identified in the response to paragraphs 3.2(b): 

a) state the amount of the Item  and whether it was material; 

b) explain the method of allocation and reasons for choosing that method; and 

c) explain the reason(s) why it cannot be allocated on a causation basis 

All costs have been directly allocated. Refer to Appendix F – Cost 

allocation to regulated distribution business and cost allocation to 

service segments. 



 
 

 

 

 

 

  

Clause detail United Energy response 

4. Cost allocation to service segments 

Note: Service segment refers to standard control services, alternative control services, negotiated services.  

4.1 Identify each item in the Regulatory Accounting Statements that is: 

a) directly attributable from the Distribution Business to a service segment;  

b) not directly attributable but is allocated on a causation basis from the Distribution Business to a service 
segment; and 

c) not directly attributable  and cannot be allocated on a causation basis from the Distribution Business to a 

service segment. 

All costs have been directly allocated. Refer to Appendix F – Cost 

allocation to regulated distribution business and cost allocation to 

service segments. 

4.2 For each Item identified in the response to paragraphs 4.1(a): 

a) state the amount of the Item that has been directly attributable to a service segment. 

All costs have been directly allocated. Refer to Appendix F – Cost 

allocation to regulated distribution business and cost allocation to 
service segments. 

4.3 For each Item identified in the response to paragraph 4.1(b): 

a) state the amount of the Item that has been allocated; 

b) explain the method of allocation and reasons for choosing that method; and 

c) state the numeric amount of the allocator(s) used. 

All costs have been directly allocated. Refer to Appendix F – Cost 
allocation to regulated distribution business and cost allocation to 

service segments. 

4.4 For each Item identified in the response to paragraphs 4.1(c): 

a) state the amount of the Item  and whether it was material; 

b) explain the method of allocation and reasons for choosing that method; and 

c) explain the reason(s) why it cannot be allocated on a causation basis. 

All costs have been directly allocated. Refer to Appendix F – Cost 

allocation to regulated distribution business and cost allocation to 
service segments. 



 
 

 

 

 

 

  

Clause detail United Energy response 

5. Capitalisation policy 

5.1 Identify all material changes between the Capitalisation Policy for the Relevant Regulatory Year and the 

previous regulatory year. 

5.2 For each change identified in the response to paragraph 5.1: 

a) state, if any, the financial impact of the change;  

b) state the reasons for the change; 

c) explain the effect of the change, if any, on the actual operating expenditure, actual maintenance 

expenditure and actual capital expenditure incurred, in comparison to the forecast operating expenditure, 

forecast maintenance expenditure and forecast capital expenditure determined in the 2016-20 Distribution 
Determination during the Relevant Regulatory year. 

d) explain the effect of the change, if any, on the actual operating and actual capital expenditure incurred, in 

comparison to the previous Relevant Regulatory Year. 

Not applicable – No changes to the capitalisation policy 

6. Demand Management Incentive Allowance 

6.1 Identify each demand management project or program for which United Energy seeks approval.  Appendix H – Demand Management Incentive Scheme Report – 2016 



 
 

 

 

 

 

  

Clause detail United Energy response 

6.2 For each demand management project or program identified in the response to paragraph 6.1: 

a) explain: 

i. how   it   complies   with   the   Demand   Management   Incentive Allowance   criteria   set   out   at   
section   3.1.3   of   the   demand management incentive scheme; 

ii. its nature and scope; 

iii. its aims and expectations; 

iv. the process by which it was selected, including its business case and consideration of any alternatives; 

v. how it was/is to be implemented; 

vi. its implementation costs; and 

vii. any identifiable benefits that have arisen from it, including any off peak or peak demand reductions 

Appendix H – Demand Management Incentive Scheme Report – 2016 

b) confirm that its associated costs are not: 

i. recoverable under any other jurisdictional incentive scheme; 

ii. recoverable under any other Commonwealth or State Government scheme 

iii. included  in  the  forecast  capital  or  operating  expenditure approved in the 2016-20 Distribution 

Determination or recoverable under any other incentive scheme in that determination; and 

Appendix H – Demand Management Incentive Scheme Report – 2016 

c) state the total amount of the Demand Management Innovation Allowance spent in the Relevant Regulatory 
Year and how this amount has been calculated. 

Appendix H – Demand Management Incentive Scheme Report – 2016 



 
 

 

 

 

 

  

Clause detail United Energy response 

6.3 Provide an overview of developments in relation to projects or programs completed in previous years of the 

regulatory control period, and of any results to date. 
Appendix H – Demand Management Incentive Scheme Report – 2015 

7. Tax Standard Lives 

7.1 Identify all tax standard asset lives applied to asset classes that differ from those contained in the AER 

approved PTRM for United Energy’s current regulatory control period. 
Not applicable – there is no asset classes that differ from those 

contained in the AER approved PTRM for United Energy’s current 
regulatory control period 

7.2 Explain the reasons for each difference identified in paragraph 7.1 including reasons for any departure from 

the ATO’s most recent determination of effective life. 
Not applicable – there is no asset classes that differ from those 

contained in the AER approved PTRM for United Energy’s current 
regulatory control period 

8. Charts 

8.1 Provide a chart that sets out:  

a) the group corporate structure of which United Energy is a part; and 

b) the organisational structure of United Energy. 

Appendix K – Charts  

9. Audit & Review Reports 

9.1 Provide Audit Report and Review report(s) in the form of: 

a) an Audit Report (financial information) in accordance with the requirements set out at Appendix D 

b) A Review Report (for Non-Financial Information) in accordance with the requirements set out at Appendix 

D. 

Appendix J – Audit reports 

10. Confidential information 



 
 

 

 

 

 

  

Clause detail United Energy response 

10.1 If United Energy makes a claim for confidentiality over any information provided in accordance with this 

Notice, United Energy must: 

a) comply with the requirements of AER’s Confidentiality Guideline, as if it extended and applied to 

responses to this Notice; 

b) provide, in addition to a confidential version of any information, a version of the information that may be 

published by the AER. 

Appendix L – Confidentiality template 

10.2 Confirm in writing that United Energy consents to the AER publically disclosing (including on the AER 

website) all information provided in accordance with this Notice, except the confidential version of 

information the subject of a confidentiality claim under paragraph 10.1. 

Refer to Annual RIN submission transmittal email  

 

  



 
 

 

 

 

 

  

Compliance with Schedule 2 of the Notice 

United Energy confirms that it prepares and maintains all information in accordance with Schedule 2 of the Notice. 

Compliance with the appendices of the Notice 

The table below outlines how United Energy has complied with the requirements of Schedule 1 of the Notice. 

Appendix Details United Energy response 

A Principles and requirements All information is in accordance with the principles and requirements outlined in Appendix A.  

B Regulatory accounting statement 
templates  

Appendix A – Annual Financial RIN Excel Template 

D Statutory declaration Appendix I – Statutory declaration 

E Audits  Appendix J – Audit reports 

F Activity areas – Cost categories for 

operating expenditure 

Appendix C – Basis of preparation – Operating expenditure 

G Asset and capital and maintenance 
expenditure categories 

N/A 

H Statement of reasons N/A 

 

 



Appendix A: Annual Financial RIN Excel  

Template 
 
 

Appendix A - Annual Financial RIN Excel Template - Version 1.0   

 

Note:  Refer attached spreadsheet 
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1. Overview 

United Energy is required to prepare a Basis of Preparation document (this document) which must, for all information: 

a) demonstrate how the information provided is consistent with the requirements of the Regulatory Information 

Notice (RIN);  

b) explain the source from which United Energy obtained the information provided;  

c) explain the methodology United Energy applied to provide the required information, including any assumptions 

United Energy made;  

d) explain, in circumstances where United Energy cannot provide information: 

1) why it was not possible for United Energy to provide the information required; 

2) what steps United Energy is taking to ensure it can provide the information in the future; 

3) if an estimate has been provided, the basis of the estimate, including the approach used, assumptions 
made and reasons why the estimate is United Energy’s best estimate. 

In accordance with the requirements above, this appendix provides details to support the information provided by 
United Energy in the Microsoft Excel workbooks titled ‘United Energy 2016 - Annual RIN - Financial Information’ and 

‘United Energy 2016 - Annual RIN – Non-Financial Information’. 

To satisfy the requirements of the Notice, the following information has been provided for each RIN table: 

 assessment of data quality; 

 data source; 

 classification as actual or estimated information, including appropriate justification if estimated; 

 methodology and assumptions adopted to prepare the information; and  

 any additional comments to assist users of the information to understand the basis of preparation. 

The table below outlines the classifications used to assess data quality. 

Table 1: Data quality and classifications 

Colour coding Availability of data from 
NSP's Primary System 

Assumptions / methodology 

Green Available and verifiable  Simple – no additional work or minor work around (e.g. data sourced from a 
secondary system)  

Light green Available with some gaps  Moderate – estimate based on statistically significant sample size 

Yellow Little or no data available  Complex – estimate based on formula, standard parameters or other source 

Pink Little or no data available  Subjective – based on significant estimates, judgements and assumptions  



Appendix C: Basis of preparation –  

Annual RIN 2016 
 
 

       

Colour coding Availability of data from 
NSP's Primary System 

Assumptions / methodology 

Black N/A Not applicable to relevant NSP  

The table below provides the AER definitions for actual and estimated information. 

Table 2: Definitions – ‘Actual and ‘estimated’ 

Term Table Heading 

Actual information Information presented in response to the Notice whose presentation is Materially dependent on 

information recorded in United Energy's historical accounting records or other records used in the normal 
course of business, and whose presentation for the purposes of the Notice is not contingent on 

judgments and assumptions for which there are valid alternatives, which could lead to a Materially 

different presentation in the response to the Notice. 

'Accounting records' include trial balances, the general ledger, subsidiary accounting ledgers, journal 
entries and documentation to support journal entries. Actual financial information may include accounting 

estimates, such as accruals and provisions, and any adjustments made to the accounting records to 

populate United Energy's regulatory accounts and responses to the Notice. 'Records used in the normal 
course of business', for the purposes of non-financial information, includes asset registers, geographical 

information systems, outage analysis systems, and so on. 

Estimated information Information presented in response to the Notice whose presentation is not Materially dependent on 
information recorded in United Energy’s historical accounting records or other records used in the normal 

course of business, and whose presentation for the purposes of the Notice is contingent on judgments 
and assumptions for which there are valid alternatives, which could lead to a Materially different 

presentation in the response to the Notice. 

The estimated information is produced using the methodology detailed below. This methodology represents United 

Energy's best estimate as applied over prior reporting periods and sourced from United Energy's information systems, 

audited information (where applicable), internal management reports and subject matter expert professional 

judgement based on the nature of United Energy's operations. United Energy is unable to provide information with 
greater accuracy than that provided in its response. 

Where estimates have been provided, United Energy is currently considering the feasibility of improvement 
opportunities to allow actual information to be provided in the future. 
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The following tables outline the basis of preparation of the information provided in the Microsoft Excel Workbook titled ‘United Energy 2016 - Annual RIN –Financial 

Information’. 

Table 3: Annual Financial RIN details 

Tab Table 
Name 

Table Table Title Data 
quality 

Fin / 
Non-
fin 

Data source Methodology 

 

Additional Comments 

2.11 Labour Labour/No
n-labour 
Expenditur
e Split 

3.1 Opex  F SAP In-house labour expenditure is SCS portion 
of total employee expenses from UE 
Statutory accounts Consolidated income 
statement. 
 
Labour expenditure outsourced to related 
parties: data from SAP, capturing the 
Standard Control portion of the total ZNX 
labour cost under GL71000 cost centre 
UE1420. 
 
Labour expenditure outsourced to unrelated 
parties: data from SAP, capturing the 
Standard Control portion of Downer labour 
cost under GL71000 cost centre UE1430. 
 
Controllable non-labour expenditure: all 
other SCS opex falls under this category. 
 
The same Standard Control percentage 
applies to each line listed above. It is the 
percentage of total Standard Control opex 
per Annual RIN Tab 8.4 Opex Cell G71 over 
total Distribution business Opex per Annual 
RIN Tab 8.4 Opex Cell E71. 

 

3.2 Capex  F SAP In-house labour expenditure is the SCS 
portion of total costs for cost centres 
UE1996, UE1997, UE1998 and UE1999 
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Tab Table 
Name 

Table Table Title Data 
quality 

Fin / 
Non-
fin 

Data source Methodology 

 

Additional Comments 

Labour expenditure outsourced to related 
parties: data from SAP, capturing the 
Standard Control portion of the total ZNX 
capex labour uploaded through Gateway.  
 
Labour expenditure outsourced to unrelated 
parties: data from SAP, capturing the 
Standard Control portion of the total Downer 
capex labour uploaded through Gateway. 
 
Controllable non-labour expenditure: all 
other Standard Control Capex falls under 
this category. 
 
The same Standard Control percentage 
applies to each of line listed above. It is the 
percentage of total Standard Control Capex 
per Annual RIN Tab 8.2 Capex Cell D37 
over total Distribution business Capex per 
Annual RIN Tab 8.2 Capex Cell D96. 

3.6 Quality 
of Services 

Quality 3.6.6 Complaints - 
Technical 
Quality of 
Supply 

 NF UE SAP 
CRM 

Data from the system generated report  

 3.6.7.1 Timely provisions 
of services 

  Service 
provider 
report 

Service Provider Connections Monthly 
Reporting 

 

 3.6.7.2 Timely repair of 
faulty street lights 

  Service 
provider 
report 

OUA Reports  
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Tab Table 
Name 

Table Table Title Data 
quality 

Fin / 
Non-
fin 

Data source Methodology 

 

Additional Comments 

 3.6.7.3 Call centre 
performance 

  Service 
provider 
report 

Service Provider Connections Monthly 
Report Service Provider Daily Report (raw) - 
Faults Desk only Service Provider Monthly 
Report (Faults tab) 

 

 3.6.7.4 Number of 
customer 
complaints 

  UE SAP 
CRM 

Data from the system generated report  

3.6.8 
Network 
Feeders 

Network 
Feeder 
Reliability 
 
 

3.6.8 Feeder Id, 
Description of 
Feeder, Feeder 
classification 

 NF Metering 
Data 
Geographic
al 
Information 
System 
(GIS) 
OUA 

A list of feeder IDS are compiled from 
various systems from UE (Load forecast 
spreadsheet maintained by Network 
Planning which lists demand for each 
feeder, Customer Numbers by feeder from 
OUA and Feeder lengths from GIS). This list 
is filtered to only include feeders which had 
at least one of the following - non zero 
customer numbers, non zero length, non 
zero demand.  

 

This list was then checked to filter out non 
UE feeders, very short feeders with no 
customers (e.g. Station service 
transformers) and feeders that have been 
renamed (all data is listed under the new 
name) or designated as a future feeder.  
The feeder classification is based off an 
initial assessment which is made based on 
length and demand (as per AER definitions). 

  

Where demand/length data is not available 
due to the feeder being serviced by another 
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Tab Table 
Name 

Table Table Title Data 
quality 

Fin / 
Non-
fin 

Data source Methodology 

 

Additional Comments 

provider, the classification is based off the 
previous year's RIN by that provider. Any 
new feeders or feeders that have changed 
classification from the previous RIN are 
checked to see whether the feeder should 
be classified differently (due to being in an 
urban area for example) 

Reliability 
Length of 
overhead and 
underground lines 

 NF Geographic
al 
Information 
System 
AM/FM 
Reports 

Asset data in the AM/FM reports is updated 
monthly from UE’s GIS and presented in 
user friendly tables.  

 

Maximum demand  NF Metering 
Data 

The Maximum Demand is obtained from the 
Network Planning Team who use actual 
metered data. 

 

Data 
Energy not 
supplied, planned 
& unplanned 

 NF OUA 
DMS 
Metering 
Data 

Energy not supplied is calculated as the 
average demand x SAIDI / 60 minutes 
 
The average customer demand was 
calculated for each Medium Voltage (MV) 
feeder using the hourly data extracted from 
the PI Historian software. PI historian 
records the following values:  
 
• Average MW / hr  
• Average MVAr / hr 
 
The hourly readings were aggregated to a 
year for each MV feeder. Therefore, 
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Tab Table 
Name 

Table Table Title Data 
quality 

Fin / 
Non-
fin 

Data source Methodology 

 

Additional Comments 

Average Demand per Feeder (MVA) = 
SQRT[(MW_AVG)^2 + (MVAr_AVG)^2] 
 
See below for SAIDI 

Outage information 
and Statistics 

 NF OUA 
DMS 

Raw unplanned data is downloaded from the 
DMS Database. The data is "cleansed" to 
remove duplications, system errors (events 
that should have been cancelled), ensure 
each event has a valid feeder name, split 
out outages affecting multiple feeders into 
each feeder component and check 
SAIFI/MAIFI overrides.  
 
Raw planned data is downloaded from OUA. 
The data is checked to ensure each entry 
has a valid feeder ID and that the time 
appears correct (events over 1 day are 
usually a system error and have not been 
closed out correctly)  

 
SAIDI is calculated as CMOS/customers on 
feeder 
SAIFI is calculated as customers 
affected/customers on feeder 

 

3.6.9 
Network 
Reliability 

    NF OUA 
Annual RIN 
2016 Tab 
3.6.8 

 

Raw planned data is downloaded from OUA. 
The data is checked to ensure each entry 
has a valid feeder ID and that the time 
appears correct (events over 1 day are 
usually a system error and have not been 
closed out correctly). SAIDI and SAIFI are 
calculated in accordance with AER 

 



Appendix C: Basis of preparation – Annual RIN 2016 

 
 
 

       

Tab Table 
Name 

Table Table Title Data 
quality 

Fin / 
Non-
fin 

Data source Methodology 

 

Additional Comments 

definitions. 
 
Refer to Annual RIN tab 3.6.8 for feeder 
classifications. 

4.1 Public 

Lighting 
Public 

Lighting 

Metrics by 

Tariff 

4 Public Lighting - 

Current Year 

 F SAP 
Financial 
accounts 
and GIS 
Report 

Sum transactions based on SAP account 
extract for public lighting O&M. 
Individual breakdown into tariff category has 
been provided in the GIS monthly report and 
is based on categories used in regulatory 
submissions. 

 

Individual breakdown into tariff category has 
been provided in the GIS monthly report as 
the number of MRUs per the tariff category 
and is based on categories used in 
regulatory submissions. 

 

Public lighting revenue data extracted from 
UE general ledger split into tariff categories 
based on relevant billing codes and public 
lighting volume data from SAP billing split 
into tariff categories. 

 

6.2 STPIS 
Reliability 

Reliability 
and 
customer 
service 
performan
ce 

1 Unplanned 
Minutes Off Supply 
(SAIDI) 

 NF DMS 
Annual RIN 
Tab 3.6.8 

 

Raw data is downloaded from the DMS 
Database. The data is "cleansed" to remove 
duplications, system errors (events that 
should have been cancelled), ensure each 
event has a valid feeder name, split out 

UE have no 'long rural' or CBD feeder 
classification and information is therefore 
not provided.  
Calculations are completed in accordance 
with AER definitions. The feeder 
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Tab Table 
Name 

Table Table Title Data 
quality 

Fin / 
Non-
fin 

Data source Methodology 

 

Additional Comments 

  2 Unplanned 
Interruptions to 
Supply (SAIFI) 

  outages affecting multiple feeders into each 
feeder component and check SAIFI/MAIFI 
overrides. SAIDI, SAIFI and MAIFI 
performance is calculated in accordance 
with AER definitions. Refer to Annual RIN 
tab 3.6.8 for feeder classifications.  

 

These events are then filtered further for 
excluded events and MED. Excluded events 
and MED records are maintained by 
Network Performance team. 

classification is taken from RIN Tab 3.6.8. 
The average distribution customer 
numbers used in calculations is taken 
from RIN Tab 6.2 Table 6.2.4. 

UE have no 'long rural' or CBD feeder 
classification and information is therefore 
not provided.  
Calculations are completed in accordance 
with AER definitions. The feeder 
classification is taken from RIN Tab 3.6.8. 
The average distribution customer 
numbers used in calculations is taken 
from RIN Tab 6.2 Table 6.2.4. 

 

 3 Unplanned 
Momentary 
Interruptions to 
Supply (MAIFI) 

  

 4 Distribution 
Customer 
Numbers 

  Benchmarki
ng RIN 3.4 
GIS 

 

The total customer numbers are extracted 
from Tab 3.4 of the Benchmarking RIN. The 
customer numbers per feeder is then 
obtained from GIS and then adjusted on a 
pro rata basis to match the total in the 
Benchmarking RIN (due to slight differences 
in the system) 

6.6 STPIS 
Customer 
Service 

    NF Aegis Daily 
Report 
(raw) – 
Faults Desk 

Number of calls received and number of 
calls answered within 30 seconds is 
extracted from the Daily Faults report (raw) 
– Faults Desk and used to populate the 
“Total” column. This report is then filtered to 
remove MED and populate the “Total – after 
removing excluded events” column. 

 

 

6.7 STPIS 
Daily 

Daily 
Performan
ce Data - 

6.7.1 Unplanned - 
Customer Service 

 

 NF Service 
Provider 

Raw data is downloaded from the DMS 
Database. The data is "cleansed" to remove 
duplications, system errors (events that 
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Tab Table 
Name 

Table Table Title Data 
quality 

Fin / 
Non-
fin 

Data source Methodology 

 

Additional Comments 

Performanc
e 

Daily 
Report 

 

should have been cancelled), ensure each 
event has a valid feeder name, split out 
outages affecting multiple feeders into each 
feeder component and check SAIFI/MAIFI 
overrides.. MAIFI performance is calculated 
in accordance with AER definitions. Refer to 
Annual RIN tab 3.6.8 for feeder 
classifications. These events are then 
filtered further for excluded events and 
MED. 

Excluded events and MED records are 
maintained by Network Performance team. 

6.8 STPIS 
Exclusions 

No requirement to complete as per the RIN sheet 

6.9 STPIS 
GSLs 

Guarantee
d service 
levels – 
Jurisdictio
nal GSL 
scheme 

6.9.1 Guaranteed 
Service Levels - 
Jurisdictional GSL 
Scheme 
(Connections) 

 NF Service 
Provider 
Connection
s Monthly 
Reporting 

The number of connections and those not 
meeting timeframe are monitored via 
monthly reporting. This monthly reporting is 
utilised to populate the RIN 

 

 6.9.1 Guaranteed 
Service Levels - 
Jurisdictional GSL 
Scheme 
(Appointments) 

  Service 
Desk 
Appointmen
ts (provided 
by Skill-
tech), 
Connection
s 
Appointmen
ts are listed 
in the 

GSL payments for missed appointments 
were taken directly from SAP. As they were 
reported separately.  

 
To determine the breakdown of GSL 
payments for the remaining types 
(connections, reliability of supply and faulty 
streetlights), the proportion of each payment 
type as per the Aegis reports and DMS 
operational reports were applied to the SAP 
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Tab Table 
Name 

Table Table Title Data 
quality 

Fin / 
Non-
fin 

Data source Methodology 

 

Additional Comments 

Connection
s Monthly 
reports. 

GSL payments total less payments for 
missed appointments.  

 

The totals for each GSL payment type were 
then further broken down into each 
subcategory (e.g. 1-4 day delay or 5+ day 
delay for connections) by using the same 
proportions as the relevant Aegis report / 
DMS operational report. To determine the 
number of each type of payment, the dollar 
figures were divided by the average value of 
GSL payments for each subcategory 
determined from the relevant Aegis report / 
DMS operational report. 

 6.9.1 Guaranteed 
Service Levels - 
Jurisdictional GSL 
Scheme (Reliability 
of supply) 

  OUA 
Reports 
analysed 
via 
reporting 
database 

Outages (as the source of data for Reliability 
of Supply) are monitored using the UE 
Faults system DMS.  OUA reporting system 
is utilised to extract this data and upload to a 
reporting database to analyse extracts and 
return results to populate the RIN. 

 

 6.9.1 Guaranteed 
Service Levels - 
Jurisdictional GSL 
Scheme (Street 
Lights) 

  OUA 
Reports 

Street Light Faults are monitored using the 
UE Faults system DMS. OUA reporting 
system is utilised to analyse this data and 
return results to populate the RIN. 

 

 6.9.1 Guaranteed 
Service Levels - 
Jurisdictional GSL 
Scheme (Planned 
Interuptions) 

  OUA 
Reports 

Planned Outages are monitored using the 
UE Faults system DMS. OUA reporting 
system is utilised to analyse this data and 
return results to populate the RIN. 
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Tab Table 
Name 

Table Table Title Data 
quality 

Fin / 
Non-
fin 

Data source Methodology 

 

Additional Comments 

7.8 Avoided 
TUOS 
Payments 

 1 Avoided TUOS 
Payments 

 F SAP 
Financial 
Accounts 

SAP data of all payments made by United 
Energy for embedded generation to 
businesses and customers during CY2016. 

 

7.10 Juris 
Scheme 

 - Jurisdictional 
Scheme Payments 

 F SAP Data extracted from SAP as per AER 
definitions. 

 

7.11 DMIS-
DMIA 

 

 

 

1 DMIA Projects 
submitted for 
Approval 

 F SAP Data extracted from SAP based on WBS 
transaction report as per AER definitions. 

 

7.12 Safety 
and 
Bushfire 

 n/a No requirement to complete 

7.13 TARC  1 Total Annual 
Retailer Charges 

 F  The total TARC has been calculated as per the table below. 

Tariff categories  TARC Revenue  

Distribution  373,292,500.27  

Jurisdictional scheme amounts    17,325,083.00  

TUOS revenue  112,487,662.00  

Other Revenue    

Standard Control Services      1,074,113.61  

Other   

Connection Services      3,077,869.90  

Metering Services    61,655,903.11  

Ancillary Network Service      3,585,968.38  

    

Total   572,499,100.27  

 
Tariff categories TARC Revenue Distribution, Rebates, Fire Factor, PFIT/TFIT, AMI, 
TUOS/Grid Fees, Avoided TUoS, Public Lighting (OMR), and other excluded services.  
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Tab Table 
Name 

Table Table Title Data 
quality 

Fin / 
Non-
fin 

Data source Methodology 

 

Additional Comments 

 

8.1 Income  1 Revenue  F SAP Distribution revenue from Statutory 
accounts. 
Other revenue data extracted from UE 
general ledger split into Regulatory 
categories based on relevant billing codes 

 

2 Expenditure  F SAP Consolidation of data from tabs contained 
within the Annual Financial RIN. 

 

3 Profit  F SAP Consolidation of data from tabs contained 
within the Annual Financial RIN. 

 

8.2 Capex 

 

 
1 Standard Control 

Service 

 F SAP Extracted a list of statutory capital additions 
from SAP summarised by SAP capital 
project and categorised it based on the SAP 
expenditure type field held on the capital 
project.  
 
Related Party Margin has been determined 
from a SAP report of the related party 
margin by capital project, categorised based 
on the SAP expenditure type field held on 
the capital project. 
 
The voltage has predominately been 
determined from the material activity code 
the expenditure resides against.  
 
Connections at LV has been adjusted by 
ACS Connection Services and Unregulated 
services (damages recoverable works)   

New customer connections (underground 
elective) adjusted for capital allocated to 
Other Alternative Control 
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Tab Table 
Name 

Table Table Title Data 
quality 

Fin / 
Non-
fin 

Data source Methodology 

 

Additional Comments 

2 Material Difference 

Explanation 

 F N/A Analysed the makeup of the forecast and 
actual capital and compared the two. 

 

3 Other Capex  F SAP 
Service 
provider 
costs 

Extracted a list of statutory capital additions 
from SAP summarised by SAP capital 
project and categorised it based on the SAP 
expenditure type field held on the capital 
project.  
 
For the categories of Connections services 
and Ancillary network services, SAP data 
pertaining to ACS costs and revenue billed, 
including external service providers' unit 
costs per invoices applied against ACS 
service orders was used. 

 

4 Capex by Asset 

Class 

 F SAP Extracted a list of statutory capital additions 
from SAP summarised by SAP capital 
project and categorised it based on the SAP 
expenditure type field held on the capital 
project.  
 
For the categories of Connections services 
and Ancillary network services, SAP data 
pertaining to ACS costs and revenue billed, 
including external service providers' unit 
costs per invoices applied against ACS 
service orders was used. 

UE does not capitalise any interest 
charges or equity raising costs directly to 
capital expenditure so the total for this 
category is zero 

4 Other Capex  F SAP 

Service 

provider 

costs 

Data generated as follows: 
'Subtransmission' total as per Table 1 less 
SCADA capital in table 1 classified as 
Subtransmission;  'HV' and 'LV' totals as per 
Table 1 plus Table 1 voltage of 'Other' 

 



Appendix C: Basis of preparation – Annual RIN 2016 

 
 
 

       

Tab Table 
Name 

Table Table Title Data 
quality 

Fin / 
Non-
fin 

Data source Methodology 

 

Additional Comments 

against Augmentation, Connections and 
Replacement, less SCADA capital in Table 1 
classified as Other; 'SCADA/Network 
Control' categorised as per the classification 
method in Table 1; 'Non network - IT' total 
as per Table 1; 'Non network - other' total as 
per Table 1;  'Public Lighting' total as per 
Table 3; 'Alternative Control - Other' total as 
per Table 3; 'Unregulated services' total 
represents damages recoverable works, 
determined by work charged to the customer 
recorded against the relevant billing code in 
SAP 

5 Capital 

Contributions by 

Asset Class 

 F SAP Data extracted from the United Energy 
general ledger against relevant Billing codes 
enabling the revenue to be allocated to the 
appropriate Customer Contribution by Asset 
Class. 
 

 

6 Disposals by asset 

class 

 F SAP Fixed 

Asset 

retirement 

report 

Extracted a list of statutory retirements with 
proceeds and categorised it based on the 
SAP asset class field. 
SCADA disposals relate to funds received 
from a legal dispute which occurred in 
CY2016. 
None 

Proceeds from the sale of assets has 
been reported 

8.4 Opex 
 

1 Operating 

Expenditure 

 F SAP 

Audited 

statutory 

accounts 

Maintenance expenditure:  
SAP download of every WBS element by 
MAT code which determines the line 
classifications and regulatory categories. 
Data generated from SAP.  
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Tab Table 
Name 

Table Table Title Data 
quality 

Fin / 
Non-
fin 

Data source Methodology 

 

Additional Comments 

 
All costs were directly allocated in line with 
the United Energy’s approved Cost 
Allocation Methodology. 
ACS costs are calculated based on ACS 
revenue quantities multiplied by unit cost 
rates. 
 
Operating Expenditure:  
SAP download of every GL balance by cost 
centre which determine the line 
classifications and regulatory categories. 
Data generated from SAP. All costs were 
directly allocated in line with the United 
Energy’s approved Cost Allocation 
Methodology. 
 
ACS costs are calculated based on ACS 
revenue quantities multiplied by unit cost 
rates 

2 Operating and 

Maintenance 

Expenditure by 

purpose – Margins 

Only 

 F  SAP extract by ZNX Limb 2 has been 
deemed as related party margins. 

 

3 Explanation of 

Material Difference 

 F N/A Analysed the makeup of the forecast and 
actual capital and compared the two. 
Qualitative analysis of difference between 
forecast and actual figures. 

 

9.5 TUos No requirement to complete. 
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This appendix addresses Section 1c of the Annual RIN. 

Revenue 

 Statutory Accounts Regulatory Accounts Difference 

TOTAL 637,560  579,299  58,262  

Explanation of difference 

Details Amount 

Pole Rental 5,755 

Interest 723 

Customer Contributions 50,674 

Interval Meter Provision Charges > 160Mwh 88 

Burwood Depot and Other Property Rental 329 

Optus Wire Down and Other Miscellaneous 

Revenue 

693 

TOTAL 58,262 

Operating expenditure 

 Statutory Accounts Regulatory Accounts Difference 

TOTAL  157,076   156,422  654 

Explanation of difference 

Details Amount 

Provision for Optus Doubtful Debts 654 

TOTAL 654 

Capital expenditure 

No difference between statutory and regulatory accounts. 
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1. Overview 

UE  is  the  licensed  entity  charged  with  carrying  out  the  role  of  electricity  distribution  in accordance with all 

legal and regulatory requirements. The AER has made three final decisions that are relevant for the purposes of 

the Annual Financial RIN.  These being: 

• 2016 to 2020 Distribution determination 

• 2016 to 2020 Public lighting determination 

• 2016 to 2020 AMI Final Decision  

These decisions provide the benchmarks against which actual expenditure is measured against, opening 

regulatory asset bases and depreciation allowances for the 2016 calendar year.   

The information contained in the documents submitted to the AER was prepared is in line with United Energy’s 

approved Cost Allocation Methodology. 

The financial information has been reconciled with the relevant regulatory accounting statements and statutory 

accounts, and the principles underpinning the calculation of figures are in line with statutory accounting policies.  

The remaining sections of this appendix provide details of United Energy’s approach as follows: 

 Section 2 – Cost allocation approach 

 Section 3 – Cost Allocation Methodology 

 Section 4 – Capitalisation Policy 
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2. Cost allocation approach 

The following table provides details of United Energy’s cost allocation. All costs have been directly allocated. 

Table 1: Operating expenditure – Allocation approach 

  Direct Allocation Indirect Allocation Overall 
opex 

TOTAL SCS AMI ACS Public 
Lighting 

Negotiated 
Services 

 TOTAL SCS AMI ACS Public 
Lighting 

Negotiated 
Services 

 
TOTAL 

Network Operating Costs 19,102   151 

  

 19,253 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 19,253 

GSL payments 714     

  

 714 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 714 

AMI     6,016   

  

 6,016 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 6,016 

Customer Service 7,384 199 1,703     9,286 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 9,286 

Billing and Revenue Collection 2,554      

 

 2,554 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 2,554 

CEO 2,923      

 

 2,923 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 2,923 

Commercial 5,914      

 

 5,914 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 5,914 

Corporate Affairs 965      

 

 965 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 965 

Facilities 5,288      

  

5,288 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 5,288 

Finance 12,601 8 136  

  

12,745 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 12,745 

HR 1,469      

  

1,469 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 1,469 

Internal Audit 682      

  

682 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 682 
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  Direct Allocation Indirect Allocation Overall 
opex 

TOTAL SCS AMI ACS Public 
Lighting 

Negotiated 
Services 

 TOTAL SCS AMI ACS Public 
Lighting 

Negotiated 
Services 

 
TOTAL 

Advanced Metering 316   

 

 

  

316 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 316 

Regulatory 2,087   

 

 

  

2,087 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 2,087 

Customer Innovation 6,902   

 

 

  

6,902 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 6,902 

IT 19,717 2,910 

 

 

  

22,627 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 22,627 

TOTAL 88,618 9,133 1,990 0  0 0  99,741  0 0 0 0 0 0 0  99,741  
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3. Cost Allocation Methodology 

See attached document.
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4. Capitalisation Policy 

See attached document. 
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1 Introduction 

United Energy Distribution (UE) is one of five electricity distribution network service providers 

operating under licence within the State of Victoria, with assets totaling approximately 

$3.0 billion. UE’s network provides services to some 660,000 end-use customers in 

Melbourne’s southern and eastern suburbs, with its area of operation confined to 

geographically defined boundaries set out in the Distribution Licence. A map is provided 

below: 

 

 

 

 

UE is ultimately owned 66 per cent by Diversified Utility and Energy Trust (DUET) and 34 per 

cent by SGSP (Australia) Assets Pty Ltd (SGSPAA). Refer to section 5 for more details. 
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2 Version history and date of issue 

Under clause 11.17.5 of the National Electricity Rules (Rules), UE submitted to the Australian 

Energy Regulator (AER) for approval a Cost Allocation Method (CAM) as part of its regulatory 

proposal for the 2011 to 2015 regulatory control period. That CAM (version 1.0) was 

approved by the AER on 18 June 2010 and commenced with effect from 1 January 2011. 

Clause 6.15.4 (f) of the Rules permits UE with the AER’s approval, to amend its CAM from 

time to time. 

UE has chosen to submit an amended CAM to the AER for approval prior to its submission 

of its regulatory proposal for the 2016 to 2020 regulatory control period. The CAM has been 

amended principally to reflect changes to UE’s distribution services classification for the 2016 

to 2020 regulatory control period. 

This CAM is version 2.0. 

The date of issue is the date of approval. 

The date of commencement is 1 January 2016. 

On approval, UE will post this CAM on UE’s website 

(www.unitedenergy.com.au)1. 

 

                                                
1 See clause 6.15.4(h) of the Rules 
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3 Nature, scope and purpose of the document 

This document sets out the CAM to be adopted by UE for the purposes of allocating costs to 

distribution services in accordance with the requirements of the Rules, and for reporting 

historic and forecast cost information to the AER, for periods beginning on or after 1 January 

20162. 

Compliance with the conditions for approval of an amended CAM 

This CAM meets the conditions for approval by the AER of an amended CAM, of clause 4.2(c) 

of the Cost Allocation Guidelines for Victorian electricity distribution network service providers 

dated June 2008 (CAG). 

The descriptions provided later in this Section 3 demonstrate that the content and structure 

of UE’s CAM together have an overriding objective of effectively promoting the Cost Allocation 

Principles set out in clause 6.15.2 of the Rules.  

Clause 2.2.2 of the CAG requires the CAM to attribute and allocate costs based on the 

substance of underlying transactions and events. Sections 6 and 8 of this document set out 

a number of anticipated changes to the distribution service and accounting classifications on 

which the current CAM (v1.0) is based. Accordingly, a revision to the CAM is necessary to 

ensure that the forms of both UE’s cost allocations and the CAM, properly reflect the changed 

substance of certain underlying transactions in order to not present a risk of material 

misstatement of costs directly attributed or allocated to UE’s distribution services.  

The differences between this CAM v2.0 and its predecessor CAM v1.0, reflect changes in 

classifications that are anticipated to come into effect on or after 1 January 2016. Table 3-1 

below and Sections 6, 7 and 8 transparently detail the impact of the amendments. The 

allocators of shared cost are unchanged in the amended CAM. Because the changed 

transactions and events and their corresponding influences on allocated cost are not 

applicable to earlier periods, the amended CAM does not jeopardise the comparability of 

resultant financial information with earlier information provided by UE to the AER. Also 

because the changes are principally ones of presentation and categorisation not 

quantification, the amendments to the CAM are not quantifiable.  

Consistency with Cost Allocation Principles 

As required by clause 6.15.4(b) of the Rules and clause 3.1(b) of the CAG, this CAM gives 

effect to and is consistent with the CAG. 

This CAM meets the requirements for UE’s cost allocation principles and polices, set out in 

chapter 2 of the CAG, as follows: 

 Clause 2.2.1(a) – Section 7 of the CAM contains detailed principles and policies to 

attribute costs directly to, or allocate costs between, different categories of distribution 

services to enable the AER to replicate reported outcomes and for the DNSP to 

demonstrate it is meeting the requirements of the CAG;  

 Clause 2.2.1(b)(1) – Section 8 of the CAM contains two tables, titled Capital Activities 

and Maintenance Activities, that describe the nature and characteristics of each 

directly attributed cost item and the distribution service to which they are attributed; 

 Clause 2.2.1(b)(2) – Section 8 of the CAM also lists shared costs and details how they 

are allocated to distribution services. The nature of the allocator and the reasons for 

its selection is described, as are the bases of and sources of information for the 

                                                
2 See clauses 1.4(b) and 5.1(b) of the CAG 
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calculation of the percentage allocators that is expected to change during the 

regulatory control period; 

 Clauses 2.2.1(b)(1)(2) - Section 10 of the CAM describes how and where UE 

maintains records to enable the bases of attribution to be independently audited or 

otherwise verified; 

 Clause 2.2.2 – Sections 7 and 8 of the CAM describe how costs are attributed or 

allocated based on the substance of the underlying transaction or event; 

 Clause 2.2.3 – Sections 7 and 8 of the CAM also describe how attributions and 

allocations are determined by reference to distribution services; 

 Clause 2.2.4 - Sections 7 and 8 of the CAM describe how the allocators meet the 

CAG’s criteria for non-causal allocators; 

 Clause 2.2.5 – Section 7 and the tables in Section 8 of the CAM describe how all cost 

categories are either directly attributed or allocated; 

 Clause 2.2.6 – the CAM is consistent with the objectives of Rule 6.17 and distribution 

ring fencing objectives including Electricity Industry Guideline No. 17: Electricity Ring-

fencing Issue 1, developed by the Essential Services Commission; 

 Clause 2.2.7 – costs will not be re-allocated during the course of a regulatory control 

period; 

 Clause 2.2.8 – the CAM has regard to previous cost allocations in accordance with 

the ESC distribution pricing determination and allows effective comparison of 

historical and forecast cost allocation between the period to which the ESC distribution 

pricing determination is applied and later regulatory control periods. This CAM applies 

historically consistent principles and polices to evolving market and regulatory 

circumstances. 

Consistency with Cost Allocation Principles 

Having met the requirements of the CAG, it follows that the CAM is consistent with the Cost 

Allocation Principles required by clause 6.15.2 of the Rules. For completeness, however, UE 

describes how the CAM meets those principles as follows: 

 Clause 6.15.2 (1) – this CAM contains sufficient detailed principles and policies to 

allocate costs between different categories of distribution services to enable the AER 

to replicate reported outcomes; 

 Clause 6.15.2 (2) – costs have been allocated according to the substance of a 

transaction or event rather than its legal form; 

 Clause 6.15.2 (3) – costs have  either been directly attributed to the services or costs 

have been allocated using an appropriate allocator; 

 Clause 6.15.2 (4) – cost allocations are clearly described in the CAM including 

reasons for using specific allocators; 

 Clause 6.15.2 (5) – costs are not allocated more than once; 

 Clause 6.15.2 (6) – the principles, policies and approach used to allocate costs are 

consistent with the Distribution Ring-Fencing Guidelines; and 

 Clause 6.15.2 (7) – costs allocated to a particular service will not be re- allocated to 

another service during the course of a regulatory control period.  
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Table 3-1:  Comparison of historic cost allocation methods in CAM v1.0 and this CAM v2.0 

Distribution 
service 

CAM v1.0 method  This CAM v2.0 method  

Standard 

Control 

Costs are directly allocated in accordance with the description 
provided in CAM v1.0. Shared costs are allocated based on 
weighted average revenue. 

 Costs are directly allocated in accordance with the description 
provided in this CAM. Shared costs are allocated based on 
weighted average revenue. 

 

Alternative 

Control 

Costs are directly allocated in accordance with the description 
provided in CAM v1.0. Shared costs are allocated based on 
weighted average revenue. 

 Costs are directly allocated in accordance with the description 
provided in this CAM. Shared costs are allocated based on 
weighted average revenue. 

 

Negotiated  Costs are directly allocated in accordance with the description 
provided in CAM v1.0. Shared costs are allocated based on 
weighted average revenue. 

 Costs are directly allocated in accordance with the description 
provided in this CAM. Shared costs are allocated based on 
weighted average revenue. 

 

AMI Order In 
Council 

Costs are directly allocated in accordance with the description 
provided in CAM v1.0 and the Cost Recovery Order In Council 
(CROIC). All costs charged to the CROIC are directly 
attributed.  

 Not applicable. The recovery of the costs of Advanced Metering 
Infrastructure services under the CROIC will cease on 31 
December 2015, when the CROIC expires. 

 

Non regulated Not applicable  Costs are directly allocated in accordance with the description 
provided in this CAM. Shared costs are allocated based on 
weighted average revenue. 

 

 

Note:  This CAM provides sufficient disclosure of the bases of allocation to allow the AER or an independent party, to make an effective comparison of 

historical and forecast cost allocations under CAM v1 approved by the AER and the later regulatory control periods subject to this CAM. 
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4 Accountabilities for the CAM 

UE is committed to implementing this CAM. 

UE’s Board of Directors (Board) is responsible for ensuring the overall performance and 

governance of UE and its subsidiaries. 

In order to assist the Board in effectively discharging its powers and duties, it has delegated 

responsibility for the day-to-day operation and management of UE to the Chief Executive 

Officer (CEO), and the senior management team. The Board retains the ultimate legal 

responsibility for the exercise of powers delegated to senior management. The CEO and 

senior management are required to report to the Board on the exercise of these powers on 

an ongoing basis. 

Specific responsibilities delegated to the CEO, Chief Financial Officer (CFO), General 

Manager Commercial and Company Secretary, General Manager Electricity Network, 

General Manager Regulation, General Manager Service Delivery, General Manager Asset 

Management, General Manager Customer & Technology and other senior management, are 

summarised in Section 5 of this CAM. 

Responsibility for updating, maintaining and applying this CAM is with the CFO. The CFO is 

also responsible for internally monitoring and reporting on the application of this CAM. 

In meeting these responsibilities, the CFO is accountable to the Board, as outlined above. 
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5 Description of UE’s corporate and operational structures 

Corporate structure 

United Energy Distribution Holdings Pty Limited (UEDH) is 66 per cent owned by the DUET 

Group (DUET), with the remaining 34 per cent owned by SGSP (Australia) Assets Pty Ltd 

(SGSPAA). 

 

1 SPIAA changed its name to SGSP (Australia) Assets Pty Limited (SGSPAA) on 3 January 2014 

The UE Group has a strong shareholder base. DUET is a large Australian infrastructure 

specialist fund and SGSPAA is a joint venture between the Singapore-based Singapore 

Power Limited (SP) and the Chinese-backed State Grid Corporation of China (SG). Over the 

years, the shareholders have provided resourcing, technical and financial support to the 

business, as has been required. 

DUET is listed on the Australian Securities Exchange (ASX) under the ticker code (DUE.ASX) 

with a market capitalisation of approximately $3.2billion as at 30 June 2014. DUET was listed 

on the ASX on 13 August 2004. 

SGSPAA is 60 per cent owned by State Grid International Development Australia Investment 

Company Limited, a wholly owned subsidiary of State Grid Corporation of China (rated Aa3 

(stable) by Moody’s) via State Grid International Development Limited. The remaining 40 per 

cent is owned by Singapore Power International Pty Ltd, a wholly owned subsidiary of 

Singapore Power Limited (rated AA (stable) by Standard & Poors.  

Organisational and operational structure  

UE is a stand-alone distributor and does not retail electricity, nor provide construction or 

maintenance services to any other business.  

UE is governed by a Chairman and a Board of Directors drawn from its major shareholders.  

SGSPAA1 DUET

United Energy Distribution 
Holdings Pty Ltd (UEDH)

Pacific Indian Energy Services 
Pty Ltd (PIES)

(Dormant)

Power Partnership Pty Ltd
(PPL)

United Nominee Assets Pty Ltd

United Energy Distribution Pty 
Ltd (UED)

UE Finance Trust

United Energy Finance 
Pty Ltd (UEF)

Utilities Consulting 
Services Pty Ltd 

UEIP Pty Ltd
(UEIP)

UE & Multinet
Pty Ltd (UEM)

34%

50%

66%

100%

100% 50%



Cost Allocation Method 

 

 

 

8 

The roles and responsibilities of each member of UE’s senior management team are 

described below: 

 CEO – Company management, strategic planning, business structure, stakeholder 

relations, board management 

 CFO – Statutory and management reporting, financial planning, annual budgets, 

taxation, treasury, accounts payable, accounts receivable, payroll, regulatory 

accounting, accounting policies 

 General Manager Customer & Technology – Strategic IT management and planning, 

IT contractor management, desktop management, help desk, customer & market 

services 

 General Manager Commercial (Company Secretary and Legal Counsel) – Company 

secretarial services, legal services, easements, contract management 

 General Manager Electricity Network and General Manager Service Delivery - 

Distribution asset planning, control room operations, asset management, 

maintenance planning, engineering, capital construction, field maintenance activities, 

contractor management 

 General Manager Regulation - Regulatory compliance, pricing submissions, 

regulatory policy, performance reporting 

UE has service agreements with the following third parties -  

 ZNX/Tenix - Operating and maintenance service agreements (OMSAs) for the 

construction, maintenance and operation of its distribution network. ZNX is fully 

owned by SPIAA. 

 Skilltech – Manual scheduled meter reading, special meter reads, on-site de-

energisation and re-energisations 

 Aegis – Customer and market services 

 Accenture – Major IT system applications support e.g. SAP 

 CGI – IT infrastructure and Service Desk Support 

UE also receives management services from DUET, a shareholder. 

Related party transactions are disclosed in UE’s audited statutory and regulatory financial 

statements in accordance with statutory and regulatory accounting disclosure requirements.  
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6 Categories of distribution services 

Distribution services provided by UE are classified as either: 

 a direct control service; 

 a negotiated distribution service;  

 an advanced metering infrastructure (AMI ) service recoverable under Victoria’s Cost 

Recovery Order in Council (CROIC); or 

 a non-regulated service. 

Direct control services are further divided into: 

 standard control services; and 

 alternative control services. 

These categories of service are explained further below. 

1. Direct control services - Standard control services 

Services provided as standard control services are recovered via Distribution Use of System 

tariffs and make up the bulk of services provided by UE. These services are ultimately 

provided to all end-use customers connected to UE’s electricity distribution network. Services 

include the maintenance and operation of UE’s distribution system including vegetation 

management, fault restoration, asset inspection, planned maintenance, reactive 

maintenance, emergency management, and the 24 hour control room. Capital expenditure is 

incurred to provide standard control services including ensuring capacity requirements are 

met, replacement capital, asset refurbishment, new connections services and network 

growth. 

UE proposes to classify elective under-grounding and rearrangement of network assets at a 

customer’s request as standard control services, with effect from 1 January 2016. These 

services have been classified as alternative control services in the regulatory control period 

ending 31 December 2015. 

2. Direct control services - Alternative control services 

Alternative control services are recovered via specific prices to those customers that have 

requested the service. Alternative control services are not recovered via Distribution Use of 

System tariffs. These services include: the energisation and de-energisation of existing 

connections, temporary supplies, service truck visits routine connections, elective 

undergrounding (proposed to be treated as standard services from 1 January 2016 as per 

above paragraph) and low voltage covers. 

Type 5 and type 6 metering services are excluded from the service classification framework 

of the National Electricity Rules until 31 December 2016 when the Victorian derogation from 

the Rules expires (or earlier if national arrangements for metering competition for small 

customers are developed and adopted in Victoria before that time). 

UE proposes that all metering services that it provides in its capacity as the “default Metering 

Coordinator” for new customers in its distribution area who cannot obtain a competitive 

market offer, will be provided as alternative control services. 

For the period 1 January to 2016 to the end of the Victorian derogation, and in accordance 

with the AER’s preliminary positions on a replacement Framework and Approach for Victoria’s 

distribution businesses for the regulatory control period commencing 1 January 2016 (“the 

AER’s preliminary view”), UE proposes to classify type 5 and type 6 metering installation 
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services as alternative control services. These services will be open to competition after the 

end of the derogation. 

3. Negotiated services 

Services provided as negotiated services are recovered via specific prices to those customers 

that have requested the service. Negotiated services are not recovered via Distribution Use 

of System tariffs. Negotiated services include relocation and alteration of public lighting assets 

and new public lighting. In response to the AER’s preliminary view, UE proposes with effect 

from 1 January 2016, to reclassify the operation, maintenance and replacement of its existing 

public lighting assets as two separate negotiated services, namely: 

 Operation, maintenance and repair; and 

 the replacement of existing public lighting assets. 

These services have been classified as alternative control services in the regulatory control 

period ending 31 December 2015.  

4. AMI services – Cost Recovery Order in Council (CROIC) 

Advanced Metering Infrastructure (type 5 and type 6 metering) services are recovered under 

a specific Victorian Order in Council (AMI CROIC). The activities for which costs are 

recovered pursuant to the AMI CROIC are set out in schedule 2 section 2.1 of that document. 

This arrangement expires on 31 December 2015. 

5. Non regulated services - AMI services 

With effect from the end of the Victorian derogation, the provision of type 5 and type 6 meters 

in UE’s distribution area will be open to competition. UE proposes that the provision of these 

services for new sites will be unregulated. 

UE currently does not anticipate providing any other non-regulated distribution services. 

The AER’s final classification of services 

The changes in service classification described above are consistent with UE’s response to 

the AER’s preliminary views. UE will amend this section of the CAM in accordance with clause 

4.2(a) of the CAG in order to apply the AER’s final classification of services. 
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7 Detailed principles and policies for cost attribution 

Overview 

UE utilises SAP as its financial management and works management system. UE’s SAP 

system is structured to comply with statutory reporting requirements and with this CAM. It is 

also able to provide a database of information for management reporting purposes.  

The cost attribution process is summarised in the following diagram. This process is the same 

as that described in the AER approved CAM v1.0. The following explanations also refer to 

Section 8 which provides more detail of cost codes and bases of allocation 
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In summary: 

 each cost incurred (capital and non-capital) is coded and directly attributed to both a 

general ledger account cost code that describes the nature of the cost input, and a 

cost centre code to allow management responsibility to be assigned to each cost;  

 typically, a cost centre reflects a line of internal service or management responsibility 

such as finance, network management, control room or regulatory costs;  

 some costs are also directly attributed to a job ledger code that allows the purpose of 

those costs to be identified for more detailed reporting of the costs of capital and 

operating and maintenance activities;  

 job ledger codes are normally used to collect directly attributable costs.  Therefore 

these costs are not normally relevant to shared costs. Typically, shared costs that are 

not assigned to a job code are for corporate services, or are in the nature of 

overheads. Those cost centre costs which are not attributed to job codes are attributed 

to distribution services based on the allocation rules provided in Section 8 under the 

heading “Allocations of shared costs”;  

 each job ledger code is assigned (directly attributed) to an activity code. Activity codes 

summarise multiple job ledger codes. This allows UE to group the costs of individual 

jobs by like activities; and  

 activity costs are either directly attributed or allocated to distribution services 

according to the rules in Table 8-1 and Table 8-2 in Section 8, titled “Capital activities” 

and “Maintenance activities.”  

Consistent with clause 3.2.(a)(6) of the CAG, the process described above and the further 

information set out at Section 8, apply to all expenditure regardless of the party with whom 

the expenditure is incurred and therefore includes related party expenditure.  

General ledger account codes 

The broad grouping of general ledger account codes is as follows: 

 Labour;  

 Materials;  

 External services;  

 Contracts;  

 Direct overheads;  

 Transport & logistics; and 

 Miscellaneous. 

Attribution of Service Providers Costs  

OMSA Service Providers (ZNX/Tenix) 

OMSA labour 

The OMSA labour cost, comprise actual costs of Service Providers (SPs) direct employees, 

at the actual employee’s on-costed labour hourly rate by the actual hours worked on UE 

jobs as per their completed timesheets.  All OMSA labour is costed to individual UE job 

codes. 
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OMSA materials & Inventory Carrying Cost 

Materials comprise strategic spares and materials supplied for capital construction and 

maintenance activities. 

Materials supplied for capital construction and maintenance activities are directly attributed 

to job codes at cost plus a surcharge to recover the cost of managing the logistics function. 

This includes the costs of: 

 purchasing; 

 warehousing; 

 premises; and 

 delivery 

OMSA Sub-contractors 

Subcontractor costs are incurred at agreed on-costed hourly rates by actual hours worked 

on UE jobs, passed through to UE at the invoiced amount and costed to individual job 

codes. 

OMSA other services 

The costs of other services provided under the OMSAs are directly attributed to a job code. 

Other Main Operational Service Providers 

Skilltech 

Skilltech services encompass manual scheduled meter reading, special meter reads, on-

site de-energisation and re-energisation.  Skilltech charges are based on agreed service 

rates by quantity delivered, which are directly costed to CROIC and ACS respective cost 

centres based on actual services. 

Aegis 

Aegis provides customer management services including call centre, faults management, 

billing, service desk, connections, meter data management, route management etc. 

Aegis charges are based on contracted employee rates by number of units (hours) 

delivered, which are directly costed to SCS, CROIC, ACS respective cost centres based on 

percentage allocations based on volumes profile of services provided. 

Other Third Party Costs  

The costs of goods and services provided by other parties (such as audit, professional 

services, IT service providers) are directly attributed to a cost centre and if relevant, attributed 

to a job code based on the causal basis. 
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Principles additional to Cost Allocation Principles and the CAG 

Consistent with the AER approved CAM v1.0 UE applies the following additional principles: 

 an item is material if its omission, misstatement or non-disclosure has the potential to 

prejudice the understanding of the financial position of UE’s distribution services, 

gained by an assessment of financial information relating to UE; and 

 UE applies a fully distributed approach to cost allocation, that allocates or directly 

costs the total costs to distribution services, which reconcile to UE’s total input costs. 

UE does not apply an avoided cost allocation methodology.  
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8 Directly attributed and allocated costs 

The table below explains which distribution services the activity codes will be directly 

attributed to. 

Each activity in Table 8-1 and Table 8-2 is wholly and exclusively associated with a single 

distribution service in any single period. Where AMI activities in Table 8-1 and Table 8-2 refer 

to more than one service, this is because the regulatory service classification is expected to 

change on 1 January 2017, as explained in Section 6. 

Table 8-1: Directly Attributed Capital Activities 

Activity Service 

Reinforcement Standard control 

New customer connection Standard control 

Reliability & quality maintained Standard control 

Environmental, safety & legal Standard control 

SCADA /Network control Standard control 

Non network general - IT Standard control 

Non network general - other Standard control 

Accumulation Meters (AMI) Alternative control 

Manually read interval meters Alternative control or 

Non-regulated for non default Metering 
Coordinator activities (See Section 6) 

Remotely read interval meters & transformers Alternative control or 

Non-regulated for non default Metering 
Coordinator activities (See Section 6) 

AMI communication Alternative control or 

Non-regulated for non default Metering 
Coordinator activities (See Section 6) 

Metering data services (IT) Alternative control or 
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Activity Service 

Non-regulated for non default Metering 
Coordinator activities (See Section 6) 

Metering data services (other) Alternative control or 

Non-regulated for non default Metering 
Coordinator activities (See Section 6) 

Public lighting - energy efficient  Negotiated 

Public lighting - non energy efficient  Negotiated 

Other - fee based services Alternative control 

Other - quoted services Alternative control 

Elective undergrounding and rearrangement of 
network assets at customers’ requests 

Standard control 

 

Table 8-2: Maintenance Activities 

Activity Service 

Routine Standard control 

Condition based – Standard Control Services  Standard control 

Condition based – Alternative Control 
Services 

Alternative control 

Emergency Standard control 

SCADA/Network Control Standard control 

Other – Standard Control Services Standard control 

AMI Alternative control or 

Non-regulated for non default Metering 
Coordinator activities (See Section 6) 

Public Lighting Negotiated 
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Activity Service 

Alternative control – other Alternative control 

Negotiated Services Negotiated 

 

Allocations of shared costs 

Certain cost centres record shared costs that are not job-costed. These cost centres which 

generally relate to corporate or support activities, are listed below. 

 Regulation  

 Legal  

 Finance  

 IT  

 CEO  

 Customer & Market Services 

 Internal Audit 

 Corporate Affairs  

 HR 

 Administration  

These cost centre costs are allocated to individual services based on the weighted average 

service revenue. 

It should be noted that to the extent that costs are directly allocated to distribution services, 

these costs are excluded from the above allocations.  For example, expenditure for the 

delivery of AMI services – Cost Recovery Order in Council (CROIC) is accounted for by 

specific invoices and by directly attributed employees and the use of time allocations. This 

allows expenditure on these services to be directly attributed and hence is excluded from the 

above allocations. 

This method of allocation: 

 is consistent with that used in UE’s CAM v1.0 that has been approved by the AER; 

 is based on a basis of allocation which is well accepted and provides a strong 

correlation with the levels of resources and services that the shared costs represent 

and the likely relative utilisation of those resources and services by the different 

distribution services to which costs are allocated;  

 applies to costs for which causal allocators cannot be established with undue cost and 

effort. This is because these costs are predominantly “fixed” costs for corporate 

services which are necessarily incurred to enable the delivery of services as a whole 

and are not caused by variations in levels of specific services; 

 applies to costs which in total amounted to less than 14% of total operating and capital 

expenditure (excluding finance charges, depreciation and amortisation) in calendar 

year 2013; and 

 resulted in the following percentage allocations of operating cost in the calendar year 

2013. 
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Table 8-3: Calendar year 2013 shared cost allocations 

Standard 
Control  
Services 

Alternative 
Control 
Services 

Negotiated 
Services 

Non -Regulated 
Services Total 

96% 4% 0% 0% 100% 

 

The numeric quantity or percentage of each allocator will change from time to time throughout 

the regulatory control period, because the quanta of the cost drivers on which the allocators 

are based, are expected to change in the normal course of events.  

The information from which the percentage of each allocator will be calculated, will be sourced 

from UE’s accounting records (see Section 10). 
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9 Compliance monitoring 

The Chief Financial Officer is responsible for monitoring UE’s compliance with the CAM and 

the CAG. UE has an Audit and Risk Committee that monitors compliance, including 

compliance with the CAM. 

The Chief Finance Officer’s accountabilities for these responsibilities are described in Section 

5. 

Independent auditors will provide the assurance that the AER may require in connection with 

this CAM in relation to its application to Regulatory Information Notices, regulatory financial 

statements and any Regulatory Proposal, for example. 

The cost allocation methodologies described in this CAM will be provided to all related parties 

– specifically DUET, UEDH and ZNX. Major contractors will also be provided a copy of the 

approved CAM, noting that the prices paid by UE for individual services will be based on the 

contractor cost structures and allocations. Contractors and related parties will be required to 

comply with this CAM to the extent that the law requires them to comply. 

Contractors and related parties will provide sufficient detail to enable UE to cost services 

directly to specific job ledgers in accordance with this CAM. 

This CAM complies with the existing ESCV ring fencing guidelines. This CAM will be 

amended (if required) when the AER replaces the existing ring-fencing guidelines. 

All queries regarding this CAM can be directed to:  

Andrew Schille 

General Manager Regulation – United Energy aschille@ue.com.au 

(03) 8846 9860 

 

 

mailto:aschille@ue.com.au
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10 Records Maintenance 

In order to: 

 demonstrate the attribution of costs to, or allocation of costs between, different 

categories of distribution services in accordance with this CAM to the AER under 

clause 5.2 of the CAG; and  

 allow attributions or allocation to be audited or otherwise verified by a third party, 

including the AER, as required 

UE will maintain records of attributions and allocations as follows: 

 all financial records will be kept in UE’s financial systems (SAP); 

 UE’s statutory financial statements and associated accounting records will form the 

basis of all reporting requirements; 

 all records will be kept for at least seven years; and 

 all records will be available to independent auditors and the AER. 

Also, any changes to this CAM will be: 

 supported by documentation and signed off by UE management prior to being 

submitted for AER approval; and 

 subject to prior approval by the AER. 
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11 Date of effect 

The date of effect for this CAM is 1 January 2016. 
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1 Procedure 

 

1.1 Identifying Expenditure to be Capitalised 

United Energy have no dollar amount threshold for expenditure to be considered of a capex or 
opex nature.  A common misconception is that the business has a capital threshold of $300, $500 
or $1,000 below which all expenditure is considered to be opex in nature.  This is incorrect.  All 
expenditure must be considered against the statements contained in this procedure for a decision 
on whether the expenditure is classified as capex or opex. 

Decisions to either capitalise or expense expenditure incurred in relation to the acquisition or 
construction of assets is largely a matter of professional judgement.  This view is reiterated in the 
accounting standards, which offer guidance to help professionals make these decisions but provide 
few examples of costs that must be treated as either capital or expense.  

If after reading this procedure, further guidance is required, contact the Fixed Asset Accountant. 

Recognition Criteria: 

There are different criteria for recognising tangible and intangible assets. 

Tangible: 

The cost of an item of property, plant and equipment shall be recognised as an asset if, and only if, 

a) It is probable that the future economic benefits associated with the item will flow to the entity; 
and 

b) The cost of the item can be measured reliably1. 

Intangible: 

The recognition of an item as an intangible asset requires an entity to demonstrate that the item 
meets: 

(a) The definition of an intangible asset 
i. Identifiable i.e. it is separable or arises from contractual or other legal rights 
ii. The entity has control over the asset 
iii. Future economic benefits must flow from the asset e.g. revenue from the sale of goods 

or services, cost savings or other benefits resulting from the use of the asset by the 
entity and 

(b) The cost of the item can be measured reliably2. 

For the elimination of doubt, probable future economic benefits means the asset is expected to be 
used during more than one period, i.e. greater than one year. 

It is worth noting that expenditure is capitalised until an item of property, plant and equipment is in 

                                                

1 AASB 116, paragraph 7 

2 AASB 138, paragraph 11 to 24 



 

3 | P a g e  

 

the location and condition necessary for it to be capable of operating in the manner intended by 
management.3 This will need to be assessed on an asset by asset basis as management 
intentions may change on completion of an asset.  Refer to the ‘Exception’ under ‘Information 
Services Expenditure Classification’ section of this procedure for an example. 

This means allowable expenditure can be accumulated as capital up to the time the asset is 
installed and ready for use, after which, certain expenditure must then be expensed.   

Allowable Expenditure for Capitalisation under the Accounting Standards i.e. Capex: 

AASB 116 para 11 Items of property and equipment may be acquired for safety and environment 
reasons. Such acquisitions although possibly not directly increasing the 
future economic benefits of any existing item of PP&E may be necessary for 
an entity to obtain a future economic benefit from its other assets. For 
instance, the expenditure of upgrading plant and equipment to meet more 
stringent environmental regulations could be capitalised on the basis that the 
business could not operate the assets and derive an income without first 
meeting the regulations and incurring the expenditure. 

AASB 116 para 13 Partial replacement of an asset can be capitalised where this contributes to 
future economic benefits of the asset in that they either: 

 Extend the useful life of an asset  

 Improve its output 

 Reduce the operating cost of the asset.  

The carrying amount of the parts that are replaced needs to be identified and 
retired. Repairs and maintenance costs are excluded from being capitalised, 
refer to ‘Disallowable Expenditure for Capitalisation under Accounting 
Standards’ in this procedure. 

AASB 116 para 14 

 

Costs incurred in performing regular major inspections for faults regardless of 
whether parts of the existing assets are replaced.   Any remaining carrying 
amount of the cost of previous inspection must first be derecognised. 

AASB 116 para 16 (a) The purchase price of an item of PP&E, including import duties and non-
refundable purchase taxes, after deducting trade discounts and rebates. 

AASB 116 para 16(b) Any costs directly attributable to bringing the asset to the location and 
condition necessary for it to be capable of operating in the manner intended 
by management. 

AASB 116 para 16(c) The initial estimate of the costs of dismantling and removing the item and 
restoring the site on which it is located, the obligation for which an entity 
incurs either: 

 when the item is acquired; or 

 as a consequence of having used the item during a particular period. 

Note:  These costs may arise under a legal or constructive obligation per 
AASB 137 Provisions, Contingent Liabilities and Contingent Assets, 
paragraph 14 (a). 

AASB 116 para 17(a) Costs of employee benefits (as defined in AASB 119 Employee Benefits) 
arising directly from the construction or acquisition of the item of property, 
plant and equipment. 

AASB 116 para 17(b) Costs of site preparation. 

AASB 116 para 17(c) Initial delivery and handling costs. 

AASB 116 para 17(d) Installation and assembly costs. 

                                                

3 AASB 116, paragraph 20 
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AASB 116 para 17(e) Cost of testing whether the asset is functioning properly, after deducting the 
net proceeds from selling any items produced while bringing the asset to that 
location and condition (such as samples produced when testing equipment). 

AASB 116 para 17 (f) Professional fees.  Note training is not included as part of professional fees. 

AASB 116 para 49 Depreciation of pre-existing assets employed in the production of a new 
asset (i.e. depreciation expense directly attributable to equipment used in the 
construction of network asset). 

AASB 116 para 22 The cost of a self-constructed asset is determined using the same principles 
as for an acquired asset.  

This means a self-constructed asset’s cost includes direct material, direct 
labour, any costs directly attributable to bringing the asset to the location and 
condition necessary for it to be capable of operating in the manner intended 
by management and an appropriate proportion of any directly attributable 
production overheads.  

AASB 123 (12) Interest (or borrowing costs) associated with funds borrowed expressly for 
the purpose of obtaining a qualifying assets.  A qualifying asset is defined in 
AASB 123 para 5 as ‘An asset that necessarily takes a substantial period of 
time to get ready for its intended use or sale’.  

UIG 1031 para 7 GST that is not recoverable from the tax authorities.   

In addition to the above expenditure may be capitalised where it has been incurred to remove an 
asset and replace it with another asset and this expenditure is incidental, difficult to separate from 
the overall expenditure and also incurred to install the replacement asset, E.g. if a pole is being 
replaced, the labour cost incurred to remove the old pole before the replacement pole can be 
installed may be capitalised.  If expenditure is incurred to remove an existing asset without 
installing a new asset then this expenditure must be expensed as it has no future economic 
benefit. 

All expenditure to be capitalised is subject to the “measurement at recognition” criteria as per 

AASB 116 paragraph 15 & AASB 138 paragraphs 18 to 24 which requires all capitalised 
expenditure to be measured at its cost. 

Disallowable Expenditure for Capitalisation under the Accounting Standards 

AASB 116 para 12 The costs of day-to-day servicing of the asset.  This may include labour and 
consumables and the cost of small parts.  The purpose of these expenditures 
is often described as ‘repairs and maintenance’.  Expenditure that does not 
increase the level of economic benefits that flow from the use of an asset in 
future periods must be treated as expense when incurred. 

AASB 116 para 19(a) Costs of opening a new facility. 

AASB 116 para 19(b) Costs of introducing a new product or service (including costs of advertising 
and promotional activities). 

AASB 116 para 19(c) Costs of conducting business in a new location or with a new class of 
customer.  

AASB 116 para 19(c), 
AASB 138 para 15 and 
AASB 138 para 67(c)  

Costs of staff training.  An entity may have a team of skilled staff and may be 
able to identify incremental staff skills leading to future economic benefits from 
training. The entity may also expect that the staff will continue to make their 
skills available to the entity. However, an entity usually has insufficient control 
over the expected future economic benefits arising from a team of skilled staff 
and from training for these items to meet the definition of an intangible asset. 

AASB 116 para 19(d) Administration and other general overhead costs. 
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AASB 116 para 20(c) Costs of relocating or reorganising part or all of an entity’s operations.  This 
means the relocation costs of moving an existing physical asset from one 
location to another cannot be capitalised. 

AASB 116 para 20 Costs are excluded from capital once the asset is in the location and condition 
necessary to be capable of operating in the manner intended by management. 

AASB 116 para 21 Incidental income or expense generated by the asset prior to it being capable 
of being used for its intended purposes. 

AASB 116 para 22 The cost of abnormal amounts of wasted material, labour or other resources 
included in self-constructing an asset. 

UIG 1031 para 6 GST that is recoverable from the tax authorities.   

AASB 116 para 48 Depreciation expense, unless it is included in the carrying amount of another 
asset as per AASB 116 para 49. 

AASB 138 para 97 Amortisation of intangible assets unless AASB 138 or another accounting 
standard permits or requires it to be included in the carrying amount of an 
asset. 

 

1.2 Intangible Expenditure 

Intangible project expenditure can be capitalised where they meet the definition and recognition 
criteria for a tangible asset under AASB 116 Property, Plant and Equipment or for an intangible 
asset under AASB 138 Intangible Assets.  Information Technology hardware is a tangible asset, 

falling under AASB 116 while software and deferred expenditure is considered an intangible asset, 
falling under AASB 138. 

Computer software for a computer-controlled machine tool that cannot operate without that specific 
software is an integral part of the related hardware and is treated as PP&E.  The same applies to 
the operating system of a computer. When the software is not an integral part of the related 
hardware, computer software is treated as an intangible asset.4  This is usually referred to as 
application software. 

The ability to capitalise intangible expenditure under AASB 138 is a two step process.5 

The first step is for the expenditure to meet the identifiability criterion6.   

(a) [the item] is separable, i.e. is capable of being separated or divided from the entity and 
sold, transferred, licensed, rented or exchanged, either individually or together with a 
related contract, identifiable asset or liability, regardless of whether the entity intends to do 
so; or 

(b) [the item] arises from contractual or other legal rights, regardless of whether those rights 
are transferable or separable from the entity or from other rights and obligations. 

                                                
4 AASB 138, paragraph 4 

5 AASB 138, paragraph 18 

6 AASB 138, paragraph 12(a) & 12(b) 
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The second step is for the expenditure to meet the recognition criteria7: 

(a) it is probable that the expected future economic benefits that are attributable to the asset 
will flow to the entity; and 

(b) the cost of the asset can be measured reliably. 

Internally Generated 

Internally generated intangible assets must be classified into either a research phase or a 

development phase. 

(a) Research is original and planned investigation undertaken with the prospect of gaining new 
scientific or technical knowledge and understanding.8  In the research phase of an internal 
project, an entity cannot demonstrate that an intangible asset exists that will generate probable 
future economic benefits so the expenditure is expensed when it is incurred.  9  Examples of 
research activities are10: 

i. activities aimed at obtaining new knowledge 
ii. the search for, evaluation and final selection of, applications of research findings or 

other knowledge 
iii. the search for alternatives for materials, devices, products, processes, systems or 

services; and 
iv. the formulation, design, evaluation and final selection of possible alternatives for new or 

improved materials, devices, products, processes, systems or services. 

An example of the research phase would be activities completed prior to the development of a 
business case. 

(b) Development is the application of research findings or other knowledge to a plan or design for 

the production of new or substantially improved materials, devices, products, processes, 
systems or services before the start of commercial production or use.11  In the development 
phase of an internal project, an entity can, in some instances, identify an intangible asset and 
demonstrate that the asset will generate probable future economic benefits. This is because 
the development phase of a project is further advanced than the research phase.12  Examples 
of development activities are:13 

i. the design, construction and testing of pre-production or pre-use prototypes and models 
ii. the design of tools, jigs, moulds and dies involving new technology 
iii. the design, construction and operation of a pilot plant that is not of a scale economically 

feasible for commercial production; and 
iv. the design, construction and testing of a chosen alternative for new or improved 

materials, devices, products, processes, systems or services. 

                                                
7 AASB 138, paragraph 21 (a) & 21(b) 

8 AASB 138, paragraph 8 

9 AASB 138, paragraphs 54 & 55 

10 AASB 138, paragraph 56 

11 AASB 138, paragraph 8 

12 AASB 138, paragraph 58 

13 AASB 138, paragraph 59 
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Expenditure  relating to the development phase may be capitalised if the entity can 
demonstrate all of the following:14 

(a) the technical feasibility of completing the intangible asset so that it will be available for use 
or sale 

(b) its intention to complete the intangible asset and use or sell it 
(c) its ability to use or sell the intangible asset 
(d) how the intangible asset will generate probable future economic benefits. Among other 

things, the entity can demonstrate the existence of a market for the output of the intangible 
asset or the intangible asset itself or, if it is to be used internally, the usefulness of the 
intangible asset 

(e) the availability of adequate technical, financial and other resources to complete the 
development and to use or sell the intangible asset; and 

(f) its ability to measure reliably the expenditure attributable to the intangible asset during its 
development. 

Information Services Expenditure Classification 

The following are examples of Information Services expenditure reflecting scenarios where the 

expenditure may be either capitalised or expensed. 

 Hardware maintenance support incurred at the same time as the initial capitalisation of the 
hardware.  This support is typically for a period between twelve months and three years.  United 
Energy capitalise the expenditure of this support against the asset as it is deemed to be 
necessarily incurred in bringing the asset into use. 

 

 Hardware maintenance support incurred subsequent to the initial capitalisation of the hardware.  
This is typically support for a 12 month period.   United Energy do not capitalise this expenditure.  
There are no future economic benefits to United Energy beyond a 12 month period so the 
expenditure cannot be considered to be capital in nature.  Such expenditure may be initially 
classified in the balance sheet as a prepayment and recognised as an expense in the profit and 
loss over the 12 months of the maintenance period. 

 

 Software maintenance support incurred at the same time as the initial purchase of the software.  
This support is typically for a period of 12 months.  United Energy capitalise the expenditure of 
this support against the asset as it is deemed to be necessarily incurred in bringing the asset into 
use. 

 

 Software maintenance support incurred subsequent to the initial capitalisation of the software.  
This is treated the same as hardware maintenance support incurred subsequent to the initial 
capitalisation of the hardware.  

 

 Software licence fees.  If the licence is for a 12 month period United Energy do not capitalise this 
expenditure.  If the licence is for a period beyond 12 months it may be capitalised and amortised 
over the shorter of the period of the license or United Energy’s useful life for software.  

Exception 

The exception to the above is where expenditure that would otherwise not be allowed to be 
capitalised is necessarily incurred in bringing the asset into the condition necessary for use.  Such 

                                                
14 AASB 138, paragraph 57 
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expenditure ceases to be capitalised when the item is in the location and condition necessary for it 
to be capable of operating in the manner intended by management.  

This means that expenditure on items such as 12 month hardware and software maintenance may 
be capitalised up to the ‘go-live’ date of the project as part of the overall software asset(s) 
capitalised for the project.  After the ‘go-live’ date any annual software maintenance cannot be 
capitalised and must be treated as outlined above.   

Information Services Cloud Expenditure 

Overview 

Broadly, cloud services are computing services provided over the internet, and paid for as they are 
used. 

In reality, solutions that utilise cloud services will often also include the creation of a capital asset 
as part of that solution.  

 The solution may include an integration layer, so that the cloud services can interact with existing 
UE and MG systems. That integration layer is likely to be a capital asset.  

 Or the solution may utilise some cloud services, but include built or licensed software capital 
assets of various kinds in addition to the cloud service. 

So there will be components of the solution that need to be treated as Capex, and components that 
need to be treated as Opex. 

General 

Components of a solution that are cloud based, and paid for on a ‘pay as you go’ basis, are treated 
as Opex. 

Components of a solution that are built or licensed up front are treated as Capex, unless the period 
of the license is less than or equal to 12 months, in which case the expenditure is treated as Opex. 

If a solution includes Capex components, the project to deliver the solution is a capital project and 
those components that are cloud based ‘pay as you go’ components are treated as Capex up until 
the go-live date. 

 Training is always Opex 

 Relocating assets is always Opex 

 If something is built or licensed as Capex, it needs to remain in the ownership of UE in order 
to stand as Capex 

 The asset must provide future economic benefit for longer than 12 months to be classified as 
Capex 

 Trials, pilots, proofs of concept and research expenditure, for the purpose of learning or 
evaluating, are always Opex. 

General Types of Cloud Services for deployment of software 
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Type of Cloud Services 
on which business 
software can be deployed 

Component Explanation 

1. Business Software on 
Infrastructure as a 
Service 

Deploy/License your own 
applications 

The applications on top of this platform are 
Capex, because UE build or license them as 
assets that have future economic benefit for 
more than 12 months.  

 Deploy/License your own 
platforms 

The platforms on top of this cloud are Capex, 
because UE build or license them as assets 
that have future economic benefit for more than 
12 months.  

 Infrastructure as a 
Service (Cloud)  

(Pay as you go 
alternative to purchasing 
hardware. Eg AWS 
storage service) 

 

No data centre, instead the infrastructure is 
provided as a service.  

The infrastructure as a service is Opex, but it 
can be capitalized as part of the above Capex 
project up until the go live date provided the 
expenditure incurred is incremental and is the 
result of developing/testing activities post the 
research phase. 

2. Business Software on 
Platform as a Service 

Deploy/License your own 
applications 

The applications on top of this cloud are Capex, 
because UE build or license them as assets 
that have future economic benefit for more than 
12 months.  

 Platform as a Service 
(Cloud) 

(Pay as you go 
alternative to purchasing 
tools and technology 
systems.  E.g. database 
systems or development 
frameworks in the cloud.) 

 

No data centre, instead the platforming is 
provided as a service.  

The platform as a service is Opex, but it can be 
capitalized as part of the above Capex project 
up until the go live date provided the 
expenditure incurred is incremental and is the 
result of developing/testing activities post the 
research phase. 

 Includes Infrastructure 
(Cloud) 

No data centre, instead the infrastructure is 
provided as a service.  

The infrastructure as a service is Opex, but it 
can be capitalized as part of the above Capex 
project up until the go live date provided the 
expenditure incurred is incremental and is the 
result of developing/testing activities post the 
research phase. 

3. Business Software as a 
Service 

Software as a Service* 

(Pay as you go for 
applications.  E.g. 
Procurement System, 
HRIS system, Gmail) 

*This includes the 
platform and 
infrastructure  

Everything including the business application is 
provided as a service.  

The application as a service is Opex. However, 
it can be capitalized if it is implemented as part 
of a Capex project, up until the go live date, 
provided the expenditure incurred is for 
activities post the research phase. 

Integration with existing UE systems might be 
required. If so, then the project to build an 
integration layer, so that the cloud software can 
integrate with existing UE systems, could be a 
Capex project, provided that UE build or license 
an asset that has future economic benefit for 
more than 12 months. 
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1.3 Overhead Allocation 

Expenditure can only be capitalised to a project where the underlying asset is clearly identifiable. 
This means that any overhead expenditure may only be capitalised if it can be directly attributable 
to an underlying asset or a group of underlying assets.  As a result of this, all capitalised overhead 
must be allocated to the individual capital project(s) to which it relates as opposed to accumulating 
all overhead into one capital project.  If the overhead expenditure cannot be allocated to an 
appropriate individual project(s), the overhead expenditure must be expensed when incurred. 

As an example the Capital Project Estimator labour time may be included as part of capitalised 
overhead attributable to a group of projects in any given month.   

In some instances it may be deemed that a portion of an employee’s labour cost may be directly 
attributable to a project(s).  In these circumstances the capital portion of the project related 
expenditure may be capitalised to a group of projects in any given month. 











































































Appendix G: Explanation of material differences 
 
 

   

 

1. Revenue and expenditure 

This section addresses Sections 1.4 to 1.5 of Schedule 1 of the Annual RIN. 

Table 1: Revenue 

 Actual 

($m) 

Benchmark 

($m) 

Difference 

($m) 

Percentage 
difference 

Reason for material difference 

Standard Control              373  372 1 0.3% Not applicable 

Table 2: Energy sales 

 Actual Benchmark Difference 
Percentage 
difference 

Reason for material difference 

Energy Volume 7,604 7,585 19 0.2% Not applicable 

Table 3: Operating and maintenance 

 Actual 

($m) 

Benchmark 

($m) 

Difference 

($m) 

Percentage 
difference 

Reason for material difference 

Standard Control 138 142 -4 -2.8% Not applicable 

Table 4: Capital expenditure 

 Actual 

($m) 

Benchmark 

($m) 

Difference 

($m) 

Percentage 

difference 
Reason for material difference 

Standard Control 209 232 -23 -10% Refer to Table 5 below 

Table 5: Capital expenditure – Reasons for material difference  

  

Actual Benchmark Difference 
Percentage 
difference 

Reason for material difference 

($m) ($m) ($m) 

Augmentation 19.7 34.4 -14.7 -43% 

Please see table 8.2.2 in Tab 8.2 

Connections 73.6 62.7 10.9 17% 

Replacement 83.0 85.3 -2.3 -3% 

Non network - IT 25.2 28.9 -3.7 -13% 

Non network - Other & SCADA 7.3 21.1 -13.8 -66% 

Standard Control -  Total Additions 208.8 232.4 -23.6 -10%   
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2. Performance targets  

This section addresses Sections 1.6 to 1.7 of Schedule 1 of the Annual RIN. 

Table 6: Urban feeder parameters – SAIDI, SAIFI, MAIFI 

  Actual Benchmark Difference Percentage 

difference 

Reason for material difference 

SAIDI 46.76 61.19 -14.43 -24% 

Targeted capital investment to reduce the 

individual impact on customers and the 

impact of targeted asset replacement 

SAIFI 0.69 0.90 -0.20 -23% 

MAIFI 0.76 0.92 -0.16 -17% 

Table 7: Rural short feeder parameters – SAIDI, SAIFI, MAIFI  

  Actual Benchmark Difference Percentage 

difference 

Reason for material difference 

SAIDI 156.63 151.60 5.03 3% Not Applicable 

SAIFI 2.26 2.02 0.24 12% 
Year on year movements of feeder 

classifications between urban and rural 
MAIFI 3.88 2.98 0.90 30% 

Table 8: Customer service parameter – Telephone answering  

  Actual Benchmark Difference Percentage 

difference 

Reason for material difference 

Telephone answering 66.92% 64.78% 2.14% 3% Not applicable 
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Note:  See attached 

Attachments outlined on page 13 of the Demand Management Incentive Scheme Report 2015 can be 
provided on request. 
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1 Introduction 

During the 2016 calendar year, United Energy (UE) continued two projects under the Demand Management 
Incentive Scheme (DMIS).  These were: 

 Virtual Power Plant (VPP) Project; and 

 Summer Saver (Demand Response) Trial. 

This report and its attachments deliver the annual reporting requirements of the DMIS for work undertaken 

on these projects during 2016 and documents the outcomes and learnings of each project.  Further details of 
each project are presented below.   

1.1 Virtual Power Plant (VPP) Project 

In September 2013 UE submitted a request to the AER to seek indicative up-front approval to use part of the 

2011-2015 allocation of Demand Management Incentive Scheme (DMIS) funding (part A) to support the 

development of UE’s Virtual Power Plant (VPP) 50kW Residential Pilot Project.  With the subsequent 

success of this pilot during this period, we are now transitioning the pilot to business-as-usual for 

management of peak demand and economic deferral of traditional network augmentation.  We are using part 
of the 2016-2020 allocation to fund this transition. 

With the price of solar photovoltaic (PV) falling dramatically and the price of battery storage forecast to 

decrease sharply in coming years, UE was eager to explore the use of PV and battery storage technology 

for addressing immediate capacity shortfalls and deferring traditional network augmentation solutions on the 

UE network. By utilising the energy stored in batteries, VPP technology can now be used by UE to shave 

peak load and defer augmentation projects in regions of the network where the future peak demand growth 
is uncertain and where the cost of adding capacity through traditional solutions is higher than average.  

The aim of the original pilot project was to validate or otherwise, the use of a VPP to manage embedded 

generation and storage in a residential setting for the provision of efficient and prudent non-network 

augmentation.  In 2014 there was significant work completed as part of the pilot. UE successfully installed a 

total of thirteen VPP units distributed across our network. The installations were completed in July 2014, and 

significant testing, refinement and learnings have been established through the operations of these units in 

2015 and 2016.  The pilot project objectives were achieved in early 2016.  The innovation involved in 

establishing the pilot project has been recognised nationally with the project recently announced as winner 
of the 2016 Clean Energy Council Award in the Innovation category.  

Coming into 2017 we are now at a point where we want to transition this technology to business-as-usual 

and justify VPP on its own economic merits against traditional augmentation.  With battery prices falling 

rapidly, we decided to retest the market for pricing of battery technology.  UE commenced a competitive RFI 

to process in 2016 to identify any new manufacturers that could supply a full turnkey VPP solution for UE 

(including solar and battery technology, software and integration).  The tender process found that the new 

Tesla Powerwall battery was at a significantly lower price point than any of the other system available on the 

market.  To test the new product, UE set up the Burwood field depot to replicate a standard residential solar 

and battery installation using the Tesla Solar Storage systems in a test environment to identify the most 

technically suitable and least cost architecture.   With this work now completed, it is planned to undertake 

field deployments in 2017 at identified capacity constrained sites within the UE distribution network as an 
alternative to traditional network augmentation. 

Refer to Appendix 1 for further details on this project. 
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1.2 Summer Saver (Demand Response) Trial 

Demand response seeks to incentivise the end customer to reduce their demand on a small number of peak 

demand days through a variety of mechanisms. These mechanisms include voluntary load reduction, utility 

load control, supply capacity limiting and dynamic peak pricing. Sustained reliable demand response from 

residential and commercial/industrial customers has been proven to be effective and efficient at managing 
peak demand, and can be used to defer network augmentation. 

The Summer Saver Trial was an investigation of how effective and efficient customer demand response is 

as a non-network alternative at addressing demand at peak times.  The trial investigated various demand 

management options. The outcomes of this trial have enabled UE to develop a demand management model 

that describes the best combination of mechanisms that will result in the biggest peak demand reduction at 
specific locations based on customer demographics and load profiles.  

UE launched the trial in February 2014 targeting 6,500 customers on four Bulleen zone substation feeders. 

Customers were offered $25 if they reduced their load during the UE nominated three-hour event period.  

UE anticipated calling on average four events per summer with the customer having the opportunity to earn 
$100 for the summer if they participated in all events. 

UE expanded the trial for summer 2014/15 to target 4,000 more customers in areas of the network that were 

likely to experience an interruption from electrical asset overload. The trial also introduced new demand 

management options to existing trial members including direct load control of pool pumps, and supply 
capacity limiting. 

The trial was expanded again for summer 2015/16 to target a total of 13,000 customers in areas of the 

network that are likely to experience an interruption from electrical asset overload.  On top of the pool pump 

load control and supply capacity limiting options, the new option of load control of air-conditioners was 
added to the service offerings.  A Bidgely customer smart phone application was also introduced. 

The trial in 2015/16 was so successful it has been recognised as a Technology Pioneer and Best Customer 

Focused Technology Project by the US Peak Load Management Alliance (PLMA) and Australian Utility 
Innovators Awards respectively. 

The success of the trial has provided UE the confidence to proceed with the Summer Saver Program1as a 

business-as-usual activity to defer traditional network augmentation using demand response.  As such, 

Summer Saver Program will be targeted to 10,000 customers in areas of identified network constraint in 
summer 2016/17. 

The Summer Saver Program 2017 is partially funded via DMIS as it is trialling several new elements for 

demand management to assist with the transition to business-as-usual and the Smart Energy smart phone 

application. Summer Saver Program is utilising the capabilities of the Advanced Metering Infrastructure to 
encourage customer participation and engagement whilst lowering implementation costs. 

The majority of the costs incurred in 2016 were for the last summer of the Summer Saver Trial. This includes 

technology cost to support the Smart Energy app and the registration website. Other costs include 

marketing, participation incentives and load control technology. The remainder of the cost incurred were for 

Summer Saver Program 2017, which were costs for technology development and transition to business-as-
usual. 

Refer to Appendix 2 for further details on this project. 

                                                

1 http://unitedenergy.com.au/summersaver 
 

http://unitedenergy.com.au/summersaver
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2 Regulatory Requirement and Compliance 

The AER, in its Demand Management Incentive Scheme applied to UE for the 2016-2020 regulatory period, 

sets certain criteria and reporting requirements for expenditure from the DMIA.  These are detailed below 
along with a description of how UE complies with each of these requirements for each project. 

2.1 VPP Project 

“1. Demand management projects or programs are measures undertaken by a DNSP to meet 

customer demand by shifting or reducing demand for standard control services through non-

network alternatives, or the management of demand in some other way, rather than increasing 
supply through network augmentation.” 

The VPP project attempts to combine the capabilities of solar PV generation and battery storage to flatten 

out the demand profile by charging the battery overnight from the network or from PV during the middle of 

the day when solar PV generation is at its maximum and discharging the battery during the early evening 

when energy demand requirements on the UE network are at their maximum.  Aggregating VPP units will 
provide a system that can be dispatched to manage network capacity constraints. 

“2. Demand management projects or programs may be: 

(a) broad-based demand management projects or programs—which aim to reduce demand for 

standard control services across a DNSP’s network, rather than at a specific point on the network. 

These may be projects targeted at particular network users, such as residential or commercial 
customers, and may include energy efficiency programs and/or 

(b) peak demand management projects or programs—which aim to address specific network 
constraints by reducing demand on the network at the location and time of the constraint.” 

The VPP sought to address specific network constraints by reducing demand on the network at the location 

and time of the constraint.  With the VPP concept now proven by the pilot, it is intended to locate such units 

in areas where there are identified network constraints.  In the first instance, this is likely to be in areas 

where there are significant distribution transformer constraints by clustering the VPP units in localised areas.  

Ultimately the goal is to alleviate constraints higher up in the network such as at the distribution feeder or 
zone substation level. 

“3. Demand management projects or programs may be innovative, designed to build demand 

management capability and capacity and explore potentially efficient demand management 
mechanisms, including but not limited to new or original concepts.” 

The VPP offers a new solution for a constrained network area, particularly where load growth is low, 

uncertain or is expected to plateau in future. The ability to provide incremental amounts of capacity through 

combining renewable generation and storage to meet the demand as it materialises could be economic 

against a more traditional network solution that provides significant step increases in capacity at higher cost. 

The innovation involved in establishing the Sunverge pilot project has been recognised nationally with the 
project recently announced as winner of the 2016 Clean Energy Council Award in the Innovation category.  

 “4. Recoverable projects and programs may be tariff or non-tariff based.” 

The VPP project is non-tariff based. 

“5. Costs recovered under the DMIS: 

(a) must not be recoverable under any other jurisdictional incentive scheme 

(b) must not be recoverable under any other Commonwealth or State/Territory Government scheme 
and 
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(c) must not be included in forecast capital or operating expenditure approved in the distribution 

determination for the regulatory control period under which the DMIS applies, or under any other 
incentive scheme in that determination.” 

Costs recovered under the DMIS for the VPP project are costs incurred by UE in procuring expert consulting 

services, equipment and installation services for the trial.  These costs have not been recovered from any 

other scheme.  The costs do not include labour for UE employees’ time toward this project.  This cost is 
absorbed by the organisation and is regarded as in-kind contribution towards the project.     

“6. Expenditure under the DMIA can be in the nature of capital or operating expenditure. The AER 

considers that capex payments made under the DMIA could be treated as capital contributions under 

clause 6.21.1 of the NER and therefore not rolled into the regulatory asset base (RAB) at the start of 

the next regulatory control period. However the AER’s decision in that regard will only be made as 
part of the next distribution determination.” 

All costs incurred by UE under the DMIS for the VPP project are classified as operating expenditure. 

2.2 Summer Saver Trial 

“1. Demand management projects or programs are measures undertaken by a DNSP to meet 

customer demand by shifting or reducing demand for standard control services through non-

network alternatives, or the management of demand in some other way, rather than increasing 
supply through network augmentation.” 

The Summer Saver Trial sought to incentivise customers to reduce their load during peak times. Voluntary 

trial customers were rewarded $5 per hour for reducing their load during the UE nominated three hour event 

period. Customers who reduced for all 3 hours were rewarded $25. Customers on the pool pump load 

control program were incentivised $40 per event for load reduction and Supply Capacity Limiting customers 

were incentivised $50 per event for load reduction. Customers on the air conditioner load control trial were 
incentivised $50 per event for load reduction and $100 as a sign up bonus. 

During the period of December 2015 to March 2016, an event was called in each month totalling 4 events.  
Event results are summarised in Appendix 2. 

“2. Demand management projects or programs may be: 

(a) broad-based demand management projects or programs—which aim to reduce demand for 

standard control services across a DNSP’s network, rather than at a specific point on the network. 

These may be projects targeted at particular network users, such as residential or commercial 
customers, and may include energy efficiency programs and/or 

(b) peak demand management projects or programs—which aim to address specific network 
constraints by reducing demand on the network at the location and time of the constraint.” 

The Summer Saver Trial sought to address specific network constraints and is therefore targeted at 

customers directly impacted by those constraints. The trial targeted approximately 13,000 customers in 

areas of the network which are likely to suffer an interruption during summer or had suffered an interruption 

in previous summers due to electrical plant overload. Throughout the trial, UE sought to understand if 

sufficient numbers of customers participate in the trial with the right level of behaviour to reduce sufficient 
load to prevent an interruption. 

“3. Demand management projects or programs may be innovative, designed to build demand 

management capability and capacity and explore potentially efficient demand management 
mechanisms, including but not limited to new or original concepts.” 

Residential demand management as a concept is not new however trialling it in metropolitan Melbourne 

certainly was. Other DNSPs in Australia and internationally have found success with demand management 

in regional areas where communities display more social capital. Since UE’s network is predominantly 
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metropolitan, demand management such as demonstrated by this trial is a crucial option to be explored. The 

innovation of the trial has been recognised locally and internationally, winning Australian Innovator Utility 

Awards 2016’s Best Customer Engagement Project, and the US Peak Load Management Alliance’s 
Technology Pioneer Award. 

“4. Recoverable projects and programs may be tariff or non-tariff based.” 

The Summer Saver Trial is non-tariff based. 

“5. Costs recovered under the DMIS: 

(a) must not be recoverable under any other jurisdictional incentive scheme 

(b) must not be recoverable under any other Commonwealth or State/Territory Government scheme 
and 

(c) must not be included in forecast capital or operating expenditure approved in the distribution 

determination for the regulatory control period under which the DMIS applies, or under any other 
incentive scheme in that determination.” 

Costs recovered under the DMIS for the Summer Saver Trial are costs incurred by UE in marketing the trial, 

creating a registration website, customer participation incentives, and procuring and installing technology.  

These costs have not been recovered from any other scheme.  The costs do not include labour for UE 

employees’ time toward this project.  This cost is absorbed by the organisation and is regarded as in-kind 
contribution towards the project.   

“6. Expenditure under the DMIA can be in the nature of capital or operating expenditure. The AER 

considers that capex payments made under the DMIA could be treated as capital contributions under 

clause 6.21.1 of the NER and therefore not rolled into the regulatory asset base (RAB) at the start of 

the next regulatory control period. However the AER’s decision in that regard will only be made as 
part of the next distribution determination.” 

All costs incurred by UE under the DMIS for the Summer Saver Trial are classified as operating expenditure. 
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2.3 DMIS Reporting 

The information contained in this report and its attachment appendices is suitable for public publication. 

The AER requires that a DNSP’s annual report must include the following for each project. 

2.3.1 VPP Project 

1. The total amount of the DMIA spent in the previous regulatory year, and how this amount has been 
calculated. 

UE had $72,631.54 excl. GST of expenses during the 2016 calendar year on activities associated with the 

DMIA for VPP projects. The costs were associated with engaging external consultants, hardware 
procurement, installation and maintenance and ongoing operational expenses associated with the pilot.  

These costs can be categorised as follows: 

 $ 4.43k excl. GST for the VPP Sunverge pilot project including hardware maintenance costs, retention 

of operational data, ongoing operational expenses associated with the pilot (such as sim cards to 

enable remote control and continuous live monitoring of the systems by UE etc.) and software 
maintenance.  

 $ 42.7k excl. GST for the Burwood Tesla pilot including procurement costs for the installation of a new 

inverter and reconfiguration of the Burwood installation to a dual battery architecture.  

 $ 25.5k excl. GST in legal expenses.  

Further costs associated with transitions of the VPP pilot project to business-as-usual are likely to be 
incurred by UE in the 2017 calendar year, drawn from the 2016-2020 DMIA allowance.  

2. An explanation of each demand management project or program for which approval is sought, 
demonstrating compliance against the DMIA criteria in section 3.1.3 with reference to: 

 (a) the nature and scope of each demand management project or program 

A VPP can be defined as a cluster of grid-connected distributed generation and storage plants that are 

monitored and controlled by an operator for energy trading and grid benefits. When combined, the cluster 

can then be treated as a single power plant.  For UE’s VPP project we intend to use solar PV and battery 
storage technologies which when combined can act to reduce peak electricity demand. 

(b) the aims and expectations of each demand management project or program 

The aim of the project is to test the VPP concept and its ability to control peak demand through the dispatch 
of battery storage optimised against solar PV generation.  

Traditional network solutions usually result in sunk capital; the resulting augmented asset cannot be easily 

recovered and used elsewhere if future demand falls. This project’s aim is to validate or otherwise, the use 

of a VPP to manage embedded generation and storage in a residential setting for the provision of efficient 
and prudent network augmentation.  The solution will be validated if it: 

 Effectively avoids/defers CAPEX/OPEX requirements in a prudent and efficient manner.  

 Is the most economic outcome when actual costs and benefits are known. 

 Is a technically appropriate solution with appropriate mitigation of any risks. 

The objectives of this project are to validate VPP as a suitable approach for managing augmentation on the 
UE distribution network with no adverse impacts to network reliability and safety.  The VPP project aims are: 

 To test the current state of the technology and its ability to scale. 
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 To identify the risks. 

 To test and assess the level of control that can be achieved with commercially available devices 

currently on the market. 

 To develop an understanding of the economics of the solution and validate the solution is a viable 

load management tool by exploring and then testing the business model(s), taking the generation, 
retail and distribution aspects into consideration. 

 To explore and test the contractual and commercial agreements with 3rd parties and Residential 
Hosts (customers). 

(c) the process by which each project or program was selected, including the business case for the 
project and consideration of any alternatives 

This project proposes VPP as a solution to address peak demand issues in low voltage feeders when 

augmentation costs using traditional solutions are high. It is anticipated that in the future, distributed 
generation and storage will have application for the entire network as costs continue to fall. 

(d) how each project or program was/is to be implemented 

The overall VPP project has been broken into key stages to ensure that appropriate governance over costs, 

risks and benefits and associated gating and review are applied at each stage, with each stage being 

subject to independent approval.  Stage 1 which is essentially complete consisted of a VPP system 

comprising thirteen installations at residential sites totalling 50kW. The installation sites were limited to UE 

employees and VPP project team members’ premises within the UE distribution area to manage identified 

risks. Stage 1 was operated over an extended period to test the economics and commercial models and 

understand the technology’s capabilities, limitations and suitability for larger scale deployment.  Stage 2 
which involves deployment to capacity constrained sites to defer traditional augmentation is now underway.    

 (e) the implementation costs of the project or program and 

In September 2013 UE submitted a request to the AER to seek indicative up-front approval to use part of the 

2011-2014 allocation of Demand Management Incentive Scheme (DMIS) funding (part A) to support the 

development of UE’s Virtual Power Plant (VPP) Project.  This was endorsed by the AER on the 2nd October 
2013.  The overall VPP project stage 1 was estimated to cost $1.75M.   

Stage 2 is estimated to cost $0.2M during 2017, being largely the costs to transition the project to business-
as-usual. 

 (f) any identifiable benefits that have arisen from the project or program, including any off peak or 
peak demand reductions. 

We have identified a number of constrained locations around the UE network where deployment of VPP is 
able to achieve peak demand reductions economically.  These sites will be targeted for Stage 2. 

3. The costs of each demand management project or program: 

(a) are not recoverable under any other jurisdictional incentive scheme, 

(b) are not recoverable under any other state or Commonwealth government scheme, and 

(c) are not included in the forecast capital or operating expenditure approved in the AER’s 

distribution determination for the regulatory control period under which the DMIS applies, or under 
any other incentive scheme in that determination. 

 Expenditure under the demand management incentive scheme is not eligible for recovery under any 

other jurisdictional incentive scheme 
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 Expenditure under the demand management incentive scheme is not eligible for recovery under any 

other state or Commonwealth government scheme 

 Expenditure under the demand management incentive scheme has not been approved in the AER’s 

distribution determination for the regulatory control period under which the scheme applies, or under 
any other incentive scheme in that determination. 

4. An overview of developments in relation to projects or programs completed in previous years of 
the regulatory control period, and of any results to date. 

Not applicable. 

2.3.2 Summer Saver Project 

1. The total amount of the DMIA spent in the previous regulatory year, and how this amount has been 
calculated. 

UE had $432,821.89 excl. GST of expenses during the 2016 calendar year on activities associated with the 
DMIA for the Summer Saver projects comprising of the following: 

- Creating a customer registration website, marketing, paying customer participation incentives, 

procuring and installing technology including the Smart Energy app, technology development and 
conducting market research. 

2. An explanation of each demand management project or program for which approval is sought, 
demonstrating compliance against the DMIA criteria in section 3.1.3 with reference to: 

 (a) the nature and scope of each demand management project or program 

This Summer Saver Trial 2016 was an investigation of how effective and efficient customer demand 
response is as a non-network alternative at addressing demand at peak times. 

Different mechanisms of demand response can be utilised to motivate and/or incentivise customers to 
change their energy usage behaviour and reduce load during peak times. These include: 

 Voluntary Demand Side Participation (DSP): incentivises customers to reduce/shift their load during 

peak times with a single-rate reward paid to those who reduce usage by any amount. 

 Direct Load Control: gives the utility more certainty in managing load by allowing the utility to manage 

appliances (RCAC and/or pool pump) during peak times to a known and predictable maximum. 

 Critical Peak Pricing: electricity is priced significantly more during peak times to induce customers to 

reduce load and save money on their bill. 

 Supply Capacity Limiting: sets a limit on the customers supply during peak times. This mechanism 

targets high users by enforcing a reasonable limit on their supply during peak times. Signing up to 

this option is voluntary and it is envisioned that such customers are genuinely keen to save energy 
and be more comparable to their neighbours. 

Summer Saver Program 2017 is the transitional phase for the Summer Saver Project from a trial basis to a 

business-as-usual program as a non-network alternative at addressing demand at peak times.  The program 
utilises a variation of Voluntary Demand Side Participation (DSP) similar to that of Summer Saver Trial 2016.  

(b) the aims and expectations of each demand management project or program 

The key objectives of the Summer Saver Trial 2016 were to investigate and assess the benefit provided to 
the network through: 

 demand management tools:  
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o investigate the take-up and impact of the three demand management mechanisms on 
customer load at peak times 

o incentivise customers to reduce their load during peak times via one or more demand 
management tool 

 Informing and empowering the consumer:   

o provide consumers with the tools and  information they need to take an active role in 
managing their consumption and to reduce energy costs and environmental impact 

To this end, the trial intended to: 

 investigate the take up of the different demand management mechanisms and their  

o attractiveness/value to the customers managing/reducing their load 

o attractiveness/value to UE in managing peak load 

 investigate the value of the different demand management mechanisms compared with network 

solutions 

 identify risks with the technology in installation and operation 

 develop UE knowledge and capability in leveraging Advanced Metering Infrastructure benefits 

 develop relationships with UE customers 

 explore and test contractual and commercial agreements with 3rd parties (retailers, contractors, 

suppliers) 

The outcomes of this trial has enabled UE to develop a demand management model that describes the best 

combination of mechanisms that will result in the biggest peak demand reduction at specific locations based 
on customer demographics and load profiles.  

This model is now being incorporated into business-as-usual activities to manage peak demand.  

The key objectives of the Summer Saver Program 2017 is the transitioning of a trial demand response 
program to a business as usual activity to manage peak demand.  

This includes a trial of high frequency Advanced Metering Infrastructure data to help inform customers in 
managing their load. 

 (c) the process by which each project or program was selected, including the business case for the 
project and consideration of any alternatives 

Approximately 85% of UE’s network services residential customers. This trial investigated various demand 

management options that can be employed by residential customers. The results of this trial has helped UE 

define which demand management mechanisms have the biggest customer take-up and participation and 
yield the biggest load reductions at a given incentive value. 

(d) how each project or program was/is to be implemented 

UE undertook analysis to identify areas that are likely to experience an interruption and could benefit from 

load reduction through demand management.  Customers in these areas were sent addressed letters 
informing them of the project and inviting them to register via the UE registration website. 

UE accepted registrations from customers within the area who have either a mobile phone or email account 
to receive UE event alerts. 

UE sent app notifications, SMS and/or email alerts to customers: 
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 48 hours notification of an event day 

 24 hour notice of the event period 

 And a reminder on the morning of the event day. 

Following the event, UE analysed customer smart meter data to verify load reduction during the three-hour 

event period. Successful customers were informed via email that they will be rewarded.  Rewards were 
processed and sent at the end of the project. 

UE undertook further analysis of customer data to evaluate individual customer and total load reduction 
achieved for the event. 

 (e) the implementation costs of the project or program and 

In October 2014 UE submitted a request to the AER to seek indicative up-front approval to use part of the 

2011-2014 allocation of Demand Management Incentive Scheme (DMIS) funding (part A) to support the 

development of UE’s Summer Saver Trial.  This was endorsed by the AER on the 24th November 2014.  The 
overall Summer Saver Trial was estimated to cost $0.59M.   

In 2016 the DMIA costs were incurred on marketing activities that included letters mailed to customers and 

flyers dropped in letter boxes.  Funds were also spent on market research of customers within the trial area 

to understand the best channels to inform customers of the trial and motivations for signing up (or not) to the 

trial.  Research was conducted on trial members to learn about their experience on the trial and find ways of 

improving the trial.  A large body of work was undertaken to create an automated registration website for 

customers that linked to the Smart Energy app as well as procuring and setting up the Smart Energy app.  
Funds were incurred on deploying DRED technology at customers’ premises over the summer. 

With the completion of the trial we now expect to incur further costs of approximately $0.3M during 2017, 
being largely the costs to transition the project to business-as-usual and for use of the Smart Energy app. 

 (f) any identifiable benefits that have arisen from the project or program, including any off peak or 
peak demand reductions. 

UE called four event days last summer. 

Event data showed that: 

 An average of 75% of registered customers participated at any single event. This is confirmed by 
post summer customer research that shows that a significant portion of customers tried to 
participate but data shows that they did not manage an energy reduction during the event. 

 An average of 37% demand reduction was achieved across all four events 

 100% participation rate by customers on load control trials. 

 No rebound peak/shifted peaks were observed during the event days 

3. The costs of each demand management project or program: 

(a) are not recoverable under any other jurisdictional incentive scheme, 

(b) are not recoverable under any other state or Commonwealth government scheme, and 

(c) are not included in the forecast capital or operating expenditure approved in the AER’s 

distribution determination for the regulatory control period under which the DMIS applies, or under 
any other incentive scheme in that determination. 

 Expenditure under the demand management incentive scheme is not eligible for recovery under any 

other jurisdictional incentive scheme 

 Expenditure under the demand management incentive scheme is not eligible for recovery under any 
other state or Commonwealth government scheme 
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 Expenditure under the demand management incentive scheme has not been approved in the AER’s 

distribution determination for the regulatory control period under which the scheme applies, or under 
any other incentive scheme in that determination. 

4. An overview of developments in relation to projects or programs completed in previous years of 
the regulatory control period, and of any results to date. 

Not applicable. 
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3 Attachments 

3.1 Appendix 1 – VPP Pilot Project Stage 1 Report 

 Background  

 Virtual Power Plant Project  

 Sunverge Pilot  

 Tesla Pilot  

 Future Initiatives 

 

Award Links: 

http://www.cleanenergysummit.com.au/awards.html 

3.2 Appendix 2 - Summer Saver Project Report 

 Customer Letter 

 Frequently Asked Questions 

 Promotional Flyer 

 Terms and Conditions 

 UE Website Content 

 Trial Results 

 

Award Links: 

http://www.peakload.org/?page=Award2016  

http://www.australian-utility-week.com//Awards 
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Independent Auditor’s Report to the Directors of United Energy 
Distribution Pty Ltd 

Opinion 

We have audited the Financial Information within tables 2.11, 7.8, 7.10, 7.11, 7.13, 8.1, 8.2 and 8.4 
as presented in the data template entitled “United Energy Annual RIN 2016” (“the Financial 
Information”) of United Energy Distribution Pty Ltd (“the Company”) for the regulatory year ended 31 
December 2016, which has been prepared in accordance with United Energy Distribution Pty Ltd’s 
Basis of Preparation (the “Basis of Preparation”) in response to the Annual Regulatory Information 
Notice (“the Notice”) issued by the Australian Energy Regulator on 3 February 2017, for the 
regulatory year ended 31 December 2016. In accordance with the requirements of the Notice, 
Information presented in the Financial Information before this date range has not been subject to 
audit.  The Basis of Preparation is an appendix to the United Energy Annual RIN 2016. 

In addition we have audited the compliance of the Basis of Preparation as it relates to the Financial 
Information, with the requirements of the Notice and the Principles and Requirements in Appendix D of 
the Notice, for the regulatory year ended 31 December 2016. 

The Australian Energy Regulator requires the Financial Information and the accompanying Basis of 
Preparation for the performance of a function conferred on it under Division 4 of Part 3 of the National 
Electricity (Victoria) Law, namely conducting various benchmarking exercises as outlined in the 
Regulatory Information Notice issued to United Energy Distribution Pty Ltd on 3 February 2017. 

In our opinion, the Financial Information provided for the regulatory year ended 31 December 2016 is 
prepared, in all material respects, in accordance with the requirements of the Notice and United 
Energy Distribution Pty Ltd’s Basis of Preparation. In addition, the Basis of Preparation as it relates to 
Financial Information has complied, in all materials respects, with the requirements of the Notice and 
the Principles and Requirements in Appendix D of the Notice. 

Basis for Opinion 

We conducted our audit in accordance with Australian Auditing Standards. Our responsibilities under 
those standards are further described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial 
Information section of our report. We are independent of the the Company in accordance with the 
auditor independence requirements of the Corporations Act 2001 and the ethical requirements of the 
Accounting Professional and Ethical Standards Board’s APES 110 Code of Ethics for Professional 
Accountants (the Code) that are relevant to our audit of the Financial Information in Australia. We have 
also fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code.  

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for 
our opinion. 

Emphasis of Matter - Basis of Accounting and Restriction on Distribution and 
Reliance 

Our report is intended solely for the Directors and the Australian Energy Regulator and should not be 
distributed to parties other than the Directors and the Australian Energy Regulator. A party other than 
the Directors or the Australian Energy Regulator accessing this report does so at their own risk and 
Ernst & Young expressly disclaims all liability to a party other than the Directors and the Australian 
Energy Regulator for any costs, loss, damage, injury or other consequence which may arise directly or 
indirectly from their use of, or reliance on the report. Our opinion is not modified in respect of this 
matter. 
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Responsibility of the Directors for the Financial Information and Basis of 
Preparation 

The Directors are responsible for the preparation of the Financial Information, and have determined 
that the definition of Financial Information, as presented within tables 2.11, 7.8, 7.10, 7.11, 7.13, 8.1, 
8.2, 8.3, and 9.5 of the data template entitled “United Energy Annual RIN 2016” is appropriate to the 
needs of financial users. This responsibility includes such internal control that the Directors determine 
is necessary to enable the preparation of the Financial Information that is free from material 
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.  

The Directors are also responsible for the preparation of the Basis of Preparation consistent with the 
requirements of the Notice and the Principles and Requirements in Appendix D of the Notice. 

Auditor’s Responsibility for the Audit of the Financial Information 

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the Financial Information is free from 
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our 
opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit 
conducted in accordance with Australian Auditing Standards will always detect a material misstatement 
when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually 
or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users 
taken on the basis of this Financial Information. 

As part of an audit in accordance with Australian Auditing Standards, we exercise professional 
judgement and maintain professional scepticism throughout the audit. We also: 

 Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the Financial Information whether due 
to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain 
audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of 
not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from 
error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the 
override of internal control. 

 Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit 
procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an 
opinion on the effectiveness of the entity’s internal control. 

 Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting 
estimates, if any, and related disclosures made by the directors. 

Our objectives are also to express a conclusion on compliance, in all material respects, of the Basis of 
Preparation with the requirements of the Notice and the Principles and Requirements in Appendix D of 
the Notice. 

We communicate with the Directors regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and timing of 
the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we 
identify during our audit. 

 
Ernst & Young 
Melbourne 
26 April 2017 
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Independent Auditor’s Report to the members of United Energy 
Distribution Pty Ltd 

We have reviewed the Non-financial information within tables 3.6, 3.6.8, 3.6.9, 6.2, 6.6, 6.7 and 6.9 
in the data template entitled “United Energy Annual RIN 2016” (the “Non-Financial Information”) 
attached, which has been prepared by United Energy Distribution Pty Ltd in response to the Annual 
Regulatory Information Notice (“the Notice”) issued by the Australian Energy Regulator on 3 February 
2017, for the regulatory year ended 31 December 2016. 

This information has been prepared in accordance with United Energy Distribution Pty Ltd’s Basis of 
Preparation (the “Basis of Preparation”) in response to the Notice issued by the Australian Energy 
Regulator on 3 February 2017, for the regulatory year ended 31 December 2016. In accordance with 
the requirements of the Notice, information presented in the Non-Financial Information before this 
date range has not been subject to review.  

In addition, we have reviewed the compliance of the Basis of Preparation as it relates to Non-Financial 
Information, with the requirements of the Notice and the Principles and Requirements in Appendix D of 
the Notice, for the regulatory year ended 31 December 2016. 

The Australian Energy Regulator requires the Non-Financial Information and the accompanying Basis 
of Preparation for the performance of a function conferred on it under Division 4 of Part 3 of the 

National Electricity (Victoria) Law, namely conducting various benchmarking exercises as outlined in 
the Regulatory Information Notice issued to United Energy Distribution Pty Ltd on 3 February 2017. 

Directors’ Responsibility for the Non-Financial Information and Basis of 
Preparation 

The directors are responsible for the preparation of the Non-Financial Information and the Basis of 
Preparation, and have determined that the Basis of Preparation used is appropriate to the needs of the 
Australian Energy Regulator.  The directors are also responsible for such internal controls as the 
directors determine are necessary to enable the preparation of the Non-Financial Information that is 
free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. 

Auditor’s Responsibility 

Our responsibility is to express a conclusion on the Non-Financial Information based on our review.  

We have conducted our review of the Non-Financial Information in accordance with the Australian 
Standard on Assurance Engagements ASAE 3000 Assurance Engagements Other than Audits or 
Reviews of Historical Financial Information in order to state whether, on the basis of the procedures 
described, anything has come to our attention that causes us to believe that the Non-Financial 
Information is not prepared, in all material respects, in accordance with the Basis of Preparation and 
the requirements of the Notice.  

Our responsibility is also to express a conclusion on compliance, in all material respects, of the Basis of 
Preparation with the requirements of the Notice that relates to Non - Financial Information. Our review 
has been conducted in accordance with the Australian Standard on Assurance Engagements ASAE 
3100 Compliance Engagements to provide limited assurance. These procedures have been undertaken 
to form a conclusion that nothing has come to our attention that causes us to believe that the Basis of 
Preparation has not complied, in all material respects, with the Notice. 
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ASAE 3000 and ASAE 3100 require us to comply with the requirements of the applicable code of 
professional conduct of a professional accounting body. 

A review consists of making enquiries, primarily of persons responsible for financial and accounting 
matters, and applying analytical and other review procedures. A review is substantially less in scope 
than an audit conducted in accordance with Australian Auditing Standards and consequently does not 
enable us to obtain assurance that we would become aware of all significant matters that might be 
identified in an audit. Accordingly, we do not express an audit opinion. 

Independence 

In conducting our audit we have met the independence requirements of the Australian professional 
accounting bodies. 

Conclusion 

Based on our review, which is not an audit, nothing has come to our attention that causes us to 
believe that the Non-Financial Information is not prepared, in all material respects, in accordance with 
the requirements of the Notice or United Energy Distribution Pty Ltd’s Basis of Preparation. In 
addition, nothing has come to our attention that causes us to believe that the Basis of Preparation does not 
comply, in all material respects, with the Notice. 

Basis of Accounting and Restriction on Distribution 

The Non-Financial Information is prepared to assist United Energy Distribution Pty Ltd to meet the 
requirements of the Notice. As a result the Non-Financial Information may not be suitable for another 
purpose. Our report is intended solely for United Energy Distribution Pty Ltd and the Australian Energy 
Regulator and should not be distributed to parties other than United Energy Distribution Pty Ltd or the 
Australian Energy Regulator. 

A party other than the Directors or the Australian Energy Regulator accessing this report does so at 
their own risk and Ernst & Young expressly disclaims all liability to a party other than the Directors and 
the Australian Energy Regulator for any costs, loss, damage, injury or other consequence which may 
arise directly or indirectly from their use of, or reliance on the report. Our conclusion is not modified in 
respect of this matter. 

 
Ernst & Young 
Melbourne 
26 April 2017 
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Independent Auditor's Report to the Directors of United Energy 
Distribution Pty Ltd 

Opinion 

We have audited the financial report, being a special purpose financial report, of United Energy 
Distribution Pty Ltd (“the Licensee”), which comprises the statement of financial position as at 31 
December 2016, income statement, statement of comprehensive income, statement of changes in 
equity and statement of cash flows for the year then ended, notes to the financial statements, 
including a summary of significant accounting policies, and the directors' declaration. 

In our opinion, the accompanying financial report is prepared, in all material respects, in accordance 
with the accounting policies described in Note 1 to the financial statements and the Regulatory 
Accounting Information Requirements of the Australian Energy Regulator. 

Basis for Opinion 

We conducted our audit in accordance with Australian Auditing Standards. Our responsibilities under 
those standards are further described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial 
Report section of our report. We are independent of the Licensee in accordance with the ethical 
requirements of the Accounting Professional and Ethical Standards Board’s APES 110 Code of Ethics 
for Professional Accountants (the Code) that are relevant to our audit of the financial report in 
Australia. We have also fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code.  

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis 
for our opinion. 

Emphasis of Matter - Basis of Accounting and Restriction on Distribution and 
Reliance 

We draw attention to Note 1 to the financial statements which describes the basis of accounting. The 
financial report is prepared to assist the Licensee to meet the requirements of the United Energy 
Distribution Pty Ltd Regulatory Information Notice issued by the Australian Energy Regulator. As a 
result the financial report may not be suitable for another purpose. Our report is intended solely for 
the Licensee and the Australian Energy Regulator (collectively the Recipients) and should not be 
distributed to parties other than the Recipients. 

A party other than the Recipients accessing this report does so at their own risk and Ernst & Young 
expressly disclaims all liability to a party other than the Recipients for any costs, loss, damage, injury 
or other consequence which may arise directly or indirectly from their use of, or reliance on the report. 
Our opinion is not modified in respect of this matter. 

Responsibilities of the Directors for the Financial Report 

The directors of the Licensee are responsible for the preparation of the financial report in accordance 
with the financial reporting requirements of the Regulatory Accounting Information Requirements of 
the Australian Energy Regulator and for such internal control as the partners determine is necessary 
to enable the preparation of the financial report that is free from material misstatement, whether due 
to fraud or error. 
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In preparing the financial report, the directors are responsible for assessing the Licensee’s ability to 
continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters relating to going concern and using the 
going concern basis of accounting unless the directors either intend to liquidate the Licensee or to 
cease operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so. 

Auditor's Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Report 

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial report as a whole is 
free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that 
includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an 
audit conducted in accordance with the Australian Auditing Standards will always detect a material 
misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material 
if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic 
decisions of users taken on the basis of this financial report. 

As part of an audit in accordance with the Australian Auditing Standards, we exercise professional 
judgment and maintain professional scepticism throughout the audit. We also: 

 Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial report, whether due to 
fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit 
evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not 
detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from 
error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the 
override of internal control. 

 Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit 
procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an 
opinion on the effectiveness of the Licensee’s internal control.  

 Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting 
estimates and related disclosures made by the directors.  

 Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the going concern basis of accounting 
and, based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to 
events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Licensee’s ability to continue as a 
going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw 
attention in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures in the financial report or, if such 
disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit 
evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s report. However, future events or conditions 
may cause the Licensee to cease to continue as a going concern.  

We communicate with the directors regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and timing of 
the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we 
identify during our audit. 

 
Ernst & Young 

Melbourne 
26 April 2017 
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Appendix L – Confidentiality template 
 
 

  1 

This appendix addresses Section 13.1 of the Annual RIN. 

Table 1: Confidentiality template  

Title, page and 
paragraph number of 
document containing 

the confidential 
information 

Description of 
the confidential 
information. 

Topic the 
confidential 
information 

relates to (e.g. 
capex, opex, the 
rate of return 
etc.) 

Identify the 
recognised 
confidentiality 

category that the 
confidential 
information falls 
within.   

Provide a brief explanation of 
why the confidential 
information falls into the 

selected category.  
If information falls within 
‘other’ please provide further 
details on why the information 
should be treated as 
confidential. 

Specify reasons supporting 
how and why detriment 
would be caused from 

disclosing the confidential 
information.  

Provide any reasons supporting 
why the identified detriment is not 
outweighed by the public benefit 

(especially public benefits such as 
the effect on the long term 
interests of consumers). 

Annual Financial RIN 
Excel Template 

 

Related party 
margins 

Capex and opex Market sensitive 
cost inputs 

Related party margins data is 
market sensitive information. 

Disclosing related party 
margins would affect United 
Energy’s ability to obtain 
competitive prices in future 
transactions. 

The information is not required to 
understand United Energy’s total 
costs. 

Table 2: Proportion of confidential information  

Submission Title  Number of pages of 
submission that include 

information subject to a 
claim of confidentiality 

Number of pages of submission 
that do not include information 

subject to a claim of 
confidentiality 

Total number of pages of 
submission 

Percentage of pages of 
submission that include 

information subject to a claim of 
confidentiality 

Percentage of pages of 
submission that do not include 

information subject to a claim of 
confidentiality 

Annual Financial RIN 

Excel Template 

0 225 225 0% 100% 
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